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Copyright Information
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following conditions:

* If you are a currently enrolled student in Dr. Albrecht's classes, then you may print out a copy
or copies of the Real Money Lite instructions and/or forms as needed.

* If you are an instructor that has received permission to use Real Money Lite in your class or
classes, then you may make a copy or copies of the Real Money Lite instructions and/or
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to help in your evaluation.
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Monopoly®, the distinctive design of the game board, the four corner squares, as well as each of the
distinctive elements of the board and the playing pieces are trademarks of Hasbro, Inc. for its real
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written in 2004. However, Real Money Lite was edited and converted from html format to pdf
format in 2008. The copyright dates from these years.
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Preface

Robert Kneckel started to roll the bandwagon when he came up with an idea to combine Monopoly®

and accounting. His students (in groups of four) played a game of Monopoly and then each prepared

a balance sheet and income statement summarizing his or her experience.

Imaginative and brilliant, his idea1 appeared in Issues in Accounting Education, a leading journal

devoted to improving accounting education. This is where I saw it.

Motivated by a desire to add a user perspective and improve student engagement for my accounting

students, I took Kneckel's idea and started tinkering with it. My version2 also was published in

Issues in Accounting Education.

My version of the simulation game, Real Money, differs from Kneckel's in three significant respects.

First, students prepare an Annual Report to Shareholders, thereby gaining an appreciation for a

proper context in which the financial statements are published. Second, students prepare financial

statements every thirteen turns (about ¼ of a game). This makes possible increased student learning

as instructor feedback throughout the game encourages students to prepare more accurate financial

statements as the game progresses. Third, students analyze the financial statements of all games and

invest in those players most likely to win their respective game. My research shows that students

make rational investment decisions. Exit surveys reveal a high degree of student satisfaction with

the simulation game.

With the Monopoly accounting bandwagon now rolling along under its own power, professors at

many schools started picking it up. Sometimes they used Kneckel's, or mine. Sometimes they
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tinkered around to come up with a new twist. Over the past ten years, students have used Monopoly

to learn financial accounting at more than 100 colleges and universities in North America, Europe

and Australia.

There is great value in using Monopoly to learn accounting. The purpose of this booklet is to give

you the instructions to join in.

October 1, 2004
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Brief Description of Real Money Lite

Real Money Lite is a fun and effective way to learn the purpose and method of financial accounting.

It is a financial reporting simulation game for use in an intermediate accounting course at the

undergraduate level.

In Real Money Lite, students prepare a series of financial

statements that account for their experiences as they play a

game of Hasbro's Monopoly®. Students use debits and credits

for recording transactions.

The objectives of this simulation game are for the student to

(1) apply the accounting cycle in a dynamic business

environment, and (2) experience the financial statement and

investment decision processes that follow from use of financial

reports.

These objectives are accomplished through use of the game Monopoly®. The students in a class are

divided into gaming groups with each game representing a distinct and separate local market. There

are four companies in each market.

Students get together outside of class to play in their game of Monopoly. They play thirteen turns

(one year) and then stop. They note all details of the game at this time because they will be returning

to play year two in a couple of weeks.

Each student does the accounting for his or her experience using journal entries and T-accounts.

They prepare an Annual Report to Stockholders including a balance sheet, income statement,

statement of cash flows and statement of stockholders equity. These are graded by the instructor and

then published to all students.
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After the entire class has had an opportunity to read all the annual reports and perform financial

statement analysis, then each student buys shares of stock in those companies expected to dominate

or monopolize each local market. After students complete their investments, they are ready to return

and play year two of their game.

The simulation game continues until annual reports have been prepared for four years. Then, the

play of the game and investment winners are declared and Real Money Lite is over.
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Instructions

Please read the instructions. They explain how to do each phase of

Real Money Lite. Students who don't read the instructions make

mistakes and take longer to complete assignments.

* Playing Monopoly—read before meeting to play the
game.

* Accounting rules—read after playing Monopoly but
before doing the accounting.

* Preparing an annual report to stockholders
—read after doing the accounting but before submitting
assignments one, three, five and seven.

* Making investments—read after the annual reports for each year have been published
but before making investment decisions.

Table of Contents
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Instructions for Playing Monopoly

Please read these instructions before meeting to play a game of Monopoly. Students that don't read
these instructions make mistakes and take longer to complete assignments.

* General instructions for playing Monopoly–basic rules and conditions for your
game.

* To start play the first time–number of tokens allowed, labeling each turn.

* Naming your company–allowable names.

* Manager's diary–keeping track of everything that happens.

* Special rules–free parking, borrowing, income taxes, mandatory building.

* At the end of each year–essential things to do.

* When in financial distress or bankruptcy–not as easy or as pleasant as you think.

* Ending the simulation game–criteria for winning
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General Instructions for Playing Monopoly

Your instructor will assign you to a group for playing a game of Monopoly. In each game, only four

playing pieces or tokens are to be played.

The play of the game is to take place outside of class at a time

and location of your own choosing. Use the traditional board

and paper version, not a computer program. Use your own

copy of Monopoly (available for about $15) or borrow one

from the instructor (may not be available). Check to make

sure that your game is complete. The equipment consists of a

board, two dice, tokens, 32 houses and 12 hotels. There are

Chance and Community Chest cards, a Title Deed for each

property and thousands of dollars of play money.

Monopoly is to be played using the standard rules accompanying the game

(http://www.hasbro.com/common/instruct/monins.pdf). Do not use the rules for the short game, or

any of your favorite house or home rules. Please read the standard rules before you start the game.

Typically, four to eight students are assigned to each game of Monopoly. If there are five or more in

a particular game, some tokens will be played by one student and others by two. Why not a separate

token for each student? The first reason for extra players is if a student drops the course during the

term (always a possibility), then the game can continue. Second, it provides flexibility when

scheduling a time to play the game, as only one player for a token need be present.

You and the other students in your game will need to meet on four occasions for play of the game.

Each time should last about one hour. It is mandatory that a student for each token attend each

session of game play.

Each game is separate and distinct from all other games being played in your class, and thus is

considered a local market. The four tokens in each game represent independent companies within

this market.

Each company should play the Monopoly game to win! The sole criterion for

winning is the largest retained earnings at the end of year four. The typical

winning strategy is to create and develop monopolies, thereby breaking

opponents and driving them into bankruptcy. Your instructor might award a

prize to the company with the highest retained earnings of all games played



3Some students think that playing to lose results in simpler accounting. This is not the
case! If you play the game to lose (refusing to buy property in obvious situations or not building
even though there is plentiful capital), then your instructor might levy a penalty.
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in your class.

As you play the game to win, don't be a jerk about it. Everyone knows that Monopoly has one

winner and three losers. Although skill enters into it, good luck is a primary factor in winning. So

don't gloat if you win.

Being a nice and courteous contestant does not mean that you should be slow in developing any

opportunity. Winning a game of Monopoly—or the game of business—depends on taking bold and

decisive action. In other words, start building immediately after creating a monopoly.

Please don't get teary-eyed or act depressed if you are losing. The purpose of Real Money Lite is for

you to do the accounting. You are graded on your accounting, not on how well you do in the

Monopoly game3.

After supervising hundreds of games of Monopoly played as part of Real Money Lite, I've noticed a

common pattern for progression of the game. Year one (the first thirteen turns) is when most

companies are focused on purchasing properties. By the end of the year, about 75% of the available

property has been purchased.

During year two, teams usually acquire all of the remaining properties. Self-created monopolies

(being lucky enough to be first to land on every property in a color group) do not develop in most

games. Students must trade if they want to form monopolies (remember, wanting to form a

monopoly is a requirement)." A few houses are sometimes built.

During year three, more monopolies are formed by trading. Houses are built, sometimes hotels.

Financial distress for some companies is becoming evident.

During year four, hotels are built in many games. About half of all games are hotly contested and

very close. Clear winners emerge in the other games. A few of the weakest companies go bankrupt.

If you have never played a game of Monopoly before (or you have limited experience and don’t

remember much, if anything, about it), it is a good idea to play one or two practice games before

starting Real Money Lite. Still uncertain how to do well in a game of Monopoly, refer to a book or

web site that discusses strategy.
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To Start Play the First Time

Open the Monopoly® game box and get set up to play. One player needs to serve

as banker. Now is a good time to review the standard rules for Monopoly.

Each game is limited to four companies or tokens. If more than four students

have been assigned to your gaming group, then there will need to be some pairing

up. If five students have been assigned to your game, there will be three single

players and one pair. With six students there will be two singles and two pairs.

With seven, there will be one single and three pairs. With eight, there will be four pairs. If you are

pairing up with another person, then choose someone other than a close friend to be your partner.

[This way, you will be less likely to be tempted to collaborate when working on assignments.]

Now, all players sit around the game board. Each company chooses a token.

If two companies want the same token, negotiate. Many people like to choose

CAR. It has been scientifically proven that CAR will not go around the board

faster than any other game token.

Each company starts the first year with $1,500 in cash. This is the

only contributed capital. There is no additional investment from

investors or dividend distribution to investors during the simulation

game.

Roll the dice to find out which company is to go first

(highest number on two dice). The second company to play is on the starting

company's left. Continue play in a clockwise order. Be sure to follow the standard

rules for Monopoly®.

A month starts when the first company rolls the dice (or makes a transaction immediately prior to

rolling the dice). A month ends after the fourth company has had a chance to move and has

completed transactions. During a month, a company may have transactions as it moves around the

board or when another company takes an action that affects it. There are 13 months in a year.

Identify monthly periods by number (y/mm). For example, the fourth month in the second year

would be 2/04.



4The earliest game packages of Monopoly did not include tokens. For an interesting and
illustrated history of Monopoly tokens, visit http://www.monopoly-history.com/tokens.php
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Naming the Company

Eleven tokens are currently included in the classic Monopoly game. These are the

battleship, cannon, car, dog, flatiron, horse & rider, sack of money, shoe, thimble,

top hat and wheelbarrow.4

Your company name should be related to your token. You

should not use your own name. There is no rule against

choosing a clever name. If you are using the dog token, then

you might name your company the Dog Company or possibly, Puppy Love! If you

are using the thimble token, then you might name your company the Thimble

Company or possibly, Sew Perfect! Do not use inappropriate sexual or social

metaphors in your company name. For example, the use of Doggy Style is not allowed.

Names should be chosen before submitting assignment one.

Puppy Love
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Manager's Diary

Each company should maintain a manager's diary, or transaction log, during the play of the game. It

should contain four types of entries:

1. A record of all events that occur during a company's turn. Identify
the turn by number (y/mm). For example, the fourth month in the
second year would be 2/04. Note the name of the square moved to
(e.g., Connecticut Avenue or Chance square on first side of board).
If rent is received, you should record which property is involved.

2. A description of the company's strategy.
3. A justification for any major financing or real estate transaction.
4. A running cash balance.

When something happens, write it down.

An example of a manager's diary for CAR follows. Some entries are from year one, others are from

year three.
1/1 Moved to Connecticut. Bought it for $120 [Decision rule: buy all unowned property.]. Collected

$8 rent from SHOE (Connecticut) and $8 rent from HAT (Connecticut). [Cash: $1,500 - $120 +
$8 + $8 = $1,396]

½ Moved to St James. Bought it for $180 [Decision rule: buy all unowned property.]. Collected $14
rent from HAT (St. James). [Cash: $1,396 - $180 + $14 = $1,230]

3/9 Trade with SHOE a possibility. I have two Greens (Pacific & NC) & two Reds (KY & IN), SHOE
has one of each (PA & IL). These groups represent my best chance for achieving a monopoly.
Because there is little price difference in the houses, I think I prefer the Greens because they get
more rent with houses. HAT seems interested, but is unwilling to trade at this time. This is
probably because HAT wants the Greens. Moved to Illinois Ave. Paid $20 rent to HAT. [Cash:
$1,053 - $20 = $1,033]

3/10 Trade finalized with SHOE. Actual trade with SHOE: two Reds traded away for one Green (PA),
one Orange (TN, I will now have two Oranges), and one Purple (Baltic, my first).

PA, worth $600 (present value of future house & hotel rents)
TN, worth $250 (it should have appreciated a little)
Baltic, worth $100

Total value received, $950. Book value given up, $440 (KY & IN's historical cost). Accounting
gain = 950 - 440 = 510. I think that the two Reds are probably worth about $950, based on
potential future earnings.

Moved to NC Ave. Bought two houses for Greens (NC & PA). [Cash: $1,033 - $400 =
$633]



5Available at the Hasbro website: http://www.hasbro.com/common/instruct/monins.pdf
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Special Rules

Play by the standard rules for Monopoly5. There are many home-made rules for Monopoly. Don't

use them. On the other hand, there are a few special rules that you must follow during this

simulation game. These rules are not included in the standard rules. They are, however, in force for

this simulation game and must be followed.

1. Lottery (also known as the Free Parking rule). At the beginning of the game, the

Bank puts $250 in Free Parking. As the game progresses, money is added to Free

Parking every time a company pays a fine, luxury tax, etc. Money for the purchase of

properties, the purchasing of buildings, or for the mortgaging of properties goes to the Bank as

usual.

Specifically, payments for these items go into Free Parking:

* Any payment required by a Chance or Community Chest card that ordinarily goes to
the bank (treat as a miscellaneous expense).

* Fifty dollar fine for getting out of jail (miscellaneous expense).
* Payments for landing on the Income Tax space (prepaid income tax).
* Luxury tax (miscellaneous expense).
* Interest on mortgaged property (interest expense).

Each time a company lands on Free Parking, it collects whatever money is in

the pot at that time (treat it as a miscellaneous revenue). Immediately after

the Free Parking jackpot is collected, replenish Free Parking with $250 from

the bank for the next company lucky enough to land on Free Parking.

2. No auction rule. When a company lands on a property, railroad, or utility that is unowned, it

has the option of purchasing it at the stated value. If the company decides not to purchase it, it

remains in the bank until another company lands on it and decides to purchase it.

3. Borrowing from other companies. Teams may make unsecured loans to other companies at

negotiated interest rates and terms. In other words, you may charge as high of a rate as the

market will bear if you intend to loan money.

4. Free Rides. The standard rules require that all transactions for property be made for cash. In

this simulation game, you may include other considerations in your trade, such as promising
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reduced or complete rent forgiveness when landing on the trading property in the future. These

other considerations may not be sold by the company that receives them. Also, all rights to the

other consideration end when either of the companies to the contract goes bankrupt.

5. Income tax. The fourth square past GO on the game board requires a

company to pay income tax. The company has the choice of paying $200 or

10% of its total assets (both cash on hand and the value of all property).

These tax payments (usually $200) are added to the lottery jackpot and

should be considered as prepaid income tax, a current asset.

In addition, all companies must regularly pay income tax expense. This tax is paid to the bank

in April (turn 4) of the next year. The adjustment is explained in detail in the adjustment

section of accounting instructions.

6. Mandatory monopoly rule (optional by instructor). Each game must have at least one color

group monopoly created by the end of year two (or year 3, instructor's choice). This may

require some trading. If the play in your game does not produce at least one company with a

color group monopoly, then year two must be replayed.

7. Mandatory house building rule (optional by instructor). When any

company acquires its first color group monopoly, it must build at least

one house on that color group within three months. However, if a

company goes bankrupt before the three month period is up, it is

excused from this rule.

If a company does not have a monopoly by the end of year two (or year three), it is required on

month 3/01 to build one (and only one) house on a single color property. No more houses may

be added to that property until it becomes part of a color group monopoly.
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At the End of Each Year

Every year at the end of turn 13, the game must be put away until the instructor authorizes you to

start play for the next year. Several things need to be done for each company. Note the following

amounts at the end of the draft for your manager’s diary:

* List of all properties owned (including houses & hotels).
* Your ending location on the board.
* Money on hand.

Prepare a cash memo for all four companies in each

game. Put ending cash amounts for all companies on the

same sheet of paper. Also, record the amount carried

over in Free Parking. After the amounts have been

counted and verified by everyone present, signatures are

recorded. This combined cash memo is then

photocopied and is handed in by each student (see

example on preceding page).

Company Player(s) Cash
Dog Jane A. $829
Car Sean P. $328
Thimble Bob C. $1,439
Cannon Carrie W. $1,245

Free parking $550

Verified by:

Carrie W. Sean P

Jane A. Bob C.



6It is against the rules to sell a house or hotel directly to an opponent. To raise money
from selling a house, sell it back to the bank (at 50% of purchase price). Your opponent may
purchase it at 100% of list price when it is his/her turn (if it is still available)..
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When in Financial Distress or Bankruptcy

You must take all possible actions to avoid bankruptcy. If you land on a property and do not have

sufficient cash to pay the rent, then you may (1) auction off valuable properties to competitors, (2)

mortgage properties and (3) sell back houses and hotels to the bank6.

If your company still owes more money in rent than it has after taking all possible actions designed

to forestall bankruptcy (including mortgaging all land and investments), then your company is

declared bankrupt. A special reminder, you may not sell or transfer to an opponent land with houses

or hotels. All houses or hotels must be sold back to the bank before transferring property to an

opponent.

In Real Money Lite no company is allowed to quit the game upon being declared

bankrupt. Turn over all money to the competitor that bankrupted you, and hand over

all properties but one (choice of the bankrupt company). Any accrued interest on

mortgaged property passes on to the receiving company.

For example, if a poor company (CAR) lands on property with a large rent of $950

due, CAR must first mortgage all properties in an attempt to raise sufficient cash to

pay the rent. Assume CAR only has $75 on hand and two unmortgaged properties (Park Place and

Boardwalk). CAR must first mortgage its properties. Park Place fetches $175 and Boardwalk fetches

$200. This brings CAR's cash total to $75 + $175 + $200 = $450. CAR is still deficient, and has no

recourse but to declare bankruptcy because the amount of available cash ($450) is less than the rent

due ($950). CAR must choose which one piece of mortgaged property to keep. If CAR decides to

keep Boardwalk, then it turns over its $450 of cash and the mortgaged Park Place.

The bankrupt company, CAR, then continues to play the game. Except on the part of the turn it goes

bankrupt, it may borrow sufficient funds from the bank (in $100 increments at 26% interest) as

needed to continue in the game. It rolls the dice and moves whenever it is its turn. In all turns after

going bankrupt, it must honor all Chance and Community Chest cards, as well as pay all rents and

fines. It also collects from Chance and Community Chest cards, salary from passing Go and the Free

Parking jackpot. The bankrupt company can never unmortgage its sole remaining property or build a

house/hotel on it, nor may it ever purchase any other piece of property or investment.
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Ending the Game

The game should be continued for 52 complete turns (four full years). Assume that the game could

very well continue into a fifth or even sixth year. We simply stop doing it for class purposes after the

fourth year.

In each game, the company with the largest amount of retained earnings is declared the winner for

play of the game. An overall winner is selected from the group of game winners.
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Instructions for Accounting

Please read these instructions after playing Monopoly but before doing the accounting. Students that

don't read these instructions make mistakes and take longer to complete assignments.

Overview of the accounting cycle
Detailed Accounting Equations
Chart of accounts
Accounting for regular and recurring events– initial $1,500, buying deeds, paying

or receiving rent, passing Go, Chance and Community Chest cards, key squares of the
board

Complex accounting situations– get-out-of-jail card, mortgages, acquiring property
from opponent via purchase or trade, buying or selling hotels, bankruptcy

Accounting adjustments at the end of each year– Cash over or short, salary
accrual, interest accrual, depreciation, property excess value has dissipated, income tax
expense

Example of the accounting cycle
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Overview of the Accounting Cycle

The accounting cycle or process is the set of procedures to follow for preparing financial statements

from a list or transactions (the manager's diary). In Real Money Lite, your accounting process should

include:

(1) Set up system of accounts. An account is something important enough to track. For each

financial statement equation there are several items to account for. The accounts in the

detailed balance sheet equation should start with an amount or balance carried over from the

end of the previous period. The accounts in the detailed income statement and detailed cash

flow equations should start each period with a balance of zero.

(2) Analyze and record transactions. With manager's diary in hand, analyze each transaction and

record it in the detailed accounting equations. For example, if your company receives $10 cash

for rent on St. Charles Avenue, then:

 increase cash and increase retained earnings on the balance sheet equation.

 increase rent revenue undeveloped and therefore increase net income on the income

statement equation.

 increase operating activities (receipt from customers) on the statement of cash flows.

(3) Analyze accounts and record adjustments. Some revenues are earned and expenses are

incurred over time. Adjustments are necessary to get the proper amount of revenue or expense

in the current year. For example, if your depreciation expense is $37 for the accounting year,

then:

 increase accumulated depreciation (decrease assets) and decrease retained earnings on the

balance sheet equation.

 increase depreciation expense and therefore decrease net income on the income statement

equation.

 there is no impact on the statement of cash flows equation.

(4) Prepare financial statements. After recording transactions and adjustments on the detailed

accoutning equations, prepare a balance sheet, income statement and statement of cash flows.
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Detailed Accounting Equations

The financial statements emphasized in Real Money Lite are the balance sheet, income statement and

statement of cash flows. Each can be written in equation format. It is straight-forward to show on

each equation the impact of a transaction or end-of-period adjustment. This approach is commonly

used in principles and fundamentals courses, and is used here.

The three financial statement equations are shown in equations one, two and three.

Balance sheet A = L + SHE (1)
Income statement R - E = NI (2)
Statement of cash flows OA + IA + FA = NCF (3)

where
A = assets OA = cash flows from operating activities
L = liabilities IA = cash flows from investing activities
SHE = stockholders equity FA = cash flows from financing activities
R = revenues NCF = net cash flows for period
E = expenses
NI = net income

The three financial statement equations then can be placed side by side to form the horizontal

accounting model, as shown in equation four.

A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF (4)

In Real Money Light, the balance sheet and income statement are expanded to show more detail. A

separate column is added for each type of asset, liability, equity, revenue and expense. These

additional columns represent separate accounts, items deemed important enough to separately track.

The detailed balance sheet equation has fourteen accounts and is shown in equation five.

C + Rec + PpdT + NR + RRU + P + H - AD = IP + TP + MP + NP + CC + RE (5)

where
C = cash on hand, used to purchase assets and to pay for the various costs of

doing business.
Rec = receivables, the expected amounts to be received from accrued salary

revenue, accrued interest revenue, and income tax refunds.
PpdT = prepaid income taxes, or payments in advance for taxes made when landing

on the income tax square (the fourth square past GO).
NR = notes receivable, for loans made to opponents.
RRU = railroads & utilities.
P = properties in the eight color groups (purple, light blue, maroon, orange, red,
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yellow, green, dark blue).
H = houses and hotels. A hotel is treated as if it is a fifth house.
AD = accumulated depreciation, for the houses and hotels.
IP = interest payable, for interest expense accrued on mortgages and loans (from

either opponents or the bank.
TP = taxes payable, for income tax expense accrued at the end of each year and

payable on turn four of the next year.
MP = mortgages payable.
NP = notes payable, for loans from opponents or from the bank (only after going

bankrupt).
CC = contributed capital, the $1,500 received at the start of the game.
RE = retained earnings.

At the end of the accounting period all columns are totaled and financial statements are prepared.

The detailed income statement equation has five revenue accounts and six expense accounts and is

shown in equation six.

RRev + SRev + MRev + IRev + G  RExp  MExp  DExp -IIExp  ITExp  L = NI (6)

where
RRev = rent reveune, the amount of value received from opponents when they

land on railroads & utilities and properties (with or without
houses and hotels.

SRev = salary reveune, the amount of value received as you progress around
the board.

MRev = miscellaneous reveune.
IRev = interest reveune.
G = gains/other.
RExp = rent expense, the cost of landing on an opponent's railroads & utilities

and properties (with or without houses and hotels.
MExp = miscellaneous expense.
DExp = depreciation expense.
IExp = interest expense.
ITExp = income tax expense.
L = loss/other.

The impact on each financial statement equation of each transaction or end-of-period adjustment can

be entered on the horizontal accounting model. For example, CAR had two transactions during 1/11

(year one, month eleven). In one, CAR collects $16 cash rent revenue when an opponent lands on

CAR's New York Avenue. In the other, CAR lands on Illinois avenue and pays $20 cash rent

expense to an opponent.



© 2004, 2008 by W. David Albrecht, All rights reserved. 19

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
1/11 +C 16 = +RE 16 +RRev 16 = +NI 16 +OA 16= +16
1/11 C 20 = RE 20 RExp 20 = NI 20 OA 20= 20
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Chart of Accounts

A chart of accounts is an official and complete listing of all account titles. You must use this chart

of accounts for your accounting in Real Money Lite. The official title for each account should be

used for all journal entries and for T-accounts.

Balance Sheet
Cash (C) Interest Payable (IP)
Receivables (Rec) Taxes Payable (TP)
Interest Receivable (IRec) Mortgage Payable (MP)
Prepaid Income Taxes (PpdT) Notes Payable (NP)

Other Liabilities (OLiab)
Notes Receivable (NR)
Railroads & Utilities (RRU) Contributed Capital (CC)
Properties (P) Retained Earnings (RE)
Houses & Hotels (H)
Accumulated Depreciation (AD)
Other Assets (OAsset)

Income Statement
Rent Revenue (RRev) Rent Expense (RExp)
Salary Revenue (SRev) Depreciation Expense (DExp)
Miscellaneous Revenue (MRev) Miscellaneous Expenses (MExp)
Interest Revenue (IRev) Interest Expense (IExp)

Income Tax Expense (ITExp)

Gains (G) Losses (L)

Note: You may create any other accounts that you feel are necessary.
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Accounting for Regular & Recurring Events

1. Receiving $1,500 in cash from the bank before the game starts. Consider this to be the

stockholders contributed capital. This transaction should be recorded by each company as:

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
1/1 +C 1,500 = +CC 1,500 0  0 = 0 +FA 1,500 = +1,500

2. Buying property or investment deeds from the bank. The purchase of a deed from a color

group goes to the Properties account. The purchase of a railroad or investment goes to the

Investments—Railroads & Utilities account. Example: CAR lands on and buys Connecticut

Avenue for $120 during turn 2/7. CAR prepares the following entry:

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
2/7 C 120 +P 120 = 0 0  0 = 0 IA 120 = 120

3. Paying and receiving rent. If you own land from a color group and an opponent lands on it,

then you should record the amount of value received as Rent Revenue. Likewise, if you own a

railroad or utility and an opponent lands on it, you also should record Rent Revenue.

If you move to land owned by an opponent (with or without a house or hotel) or to a utility or a

railroad, then the payment should be recorded as Rent Expense.

Example: During turn 2/11, BOAT lands on Connecticut Avenue which is owned by CAR.

BOAT pays $8 to CAR. CAR and BOAT prepare the following entries:

CAR's entry:

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
2/11 + C 8 = +RE 8 +RentRev 8 = +NI 8 + OA 8= +8

BOAT's entry:

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
2/11  C 8 = RE 8 RentExp 8 = NI 8 OA 8 = 8
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4. Land on Go, or go past it on a roll of the dice, and you should collect $200 of salary revenue

from the bank. Example: On turn 1/8 CAR passes the GO space and collects $200.

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
1/8 + C 20 = +RE 200 +SalRev 200 = +NI 200 + OA 200= +200

5. Chance and Community Chest cards. Chance and Community Chest are of three types.

First, pay to or collect from the bank (e.g., inheritance). For these cards you should record a

Miscellaneous Revenue or Miscellaneous Expense. Second, collect from or pay to other

players $50. Again, this should be recorded as a Miscellaneous Revenue or Miscellaneous

Expense. Third, move to another square and pay rent, buy the property or collect $200 salary.

For these, you should record Rent Expense, Land or Investment, or Salary Revenue. The

card for income tax refund is a Miscellaneous Revenue and is not related to income taxes for

the game.

6. Accounting for Luxury Tax, Income Tax and other locations on the board. The $75

luxury tax should be accounted for as a Miscellaneous Expense. When landing on the income

tax square (10% of your total assets or $200), your payment should be recorded as Prepaid

Income Tax. Paying $50 to get out of jail is treated as a Miscellaneous Expense. Winning

the lottery and collecting the money from Free Parking is accounted for as a Miscellaneous

Revenue.



7For further guidance, refer to the textbook discussions of executory contracts,
contingencies and notes to the financial statements.
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Complex Accounting Situations

Sometimes the correct accounting for certain situations is not obvious. Here are some hints and

examples to help you out.

1. Receipt of a "Get-out-of-jail" card. Both Chance and Community Chest have a card for

getting out of jail free. This card is a contingency, because getting the benefit depends upon

(1) going to jail in the future and (2) choosing to turn in the card. Contingencies that are gains

(or beneficial results) should not be accounted for directly in the financial statements, because

the gain may never actually happen. This means that nothing should be recorded on the turn a

card is received from the Chance or Community Chest stack of cards. As long as the card is

held, it should be accounted for only in the notes to the financial statements under

Contingencies and Commitments. An example of a note disclosure is:

Because a "Get-out-of-jail" card is a contingent receivable, its possession and use should be

included in the Notes to the Financial Statements. For example, if DOG Company receives a

"Get-out-of-jail" card on 2/10, and still holds it at the end of year two, then the note for

contingencies and commitments could read:

The Dog Company received a Get-Out-of-Jail-Free card on turn 2/10. This card entitles the
company to get out of jail without paying the fine, a $50 value. There is a reasonable probability
that the company will receive this benefit in the future, but it depends upon (1) going to jail (a
common risk of doing business, unfortunately) and (2) whether using the card to get out of jail is
in the company's best interest.

The "Get-out-of-jail" card should be reported in the Notes to the Financial Statements from

year of acquisition until one year after its use.7

Once the card is used or sold, it can be recorded for the financial statements. If a card is sold

to an opponent, debit cash and credit Miscellaneous Revenue. If used, both Miscellaneous

Revenue and Miscellaneous Expense should also be recognized at the time the card is actually

used. If, for example, HORSE received a "Get-out-of-jail" for free card on 2/6 and exercised it

on 2/12, the following entries would be made:
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Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
2/6 no entry no entry no entry

2/12 no entry +MiscRev 50 MiscExp 50 = 0 no entry

2. Mortgage loans. This section includes paragraphs on taking out mortgages, calculating

interest and paying off mortgages.

Mortgaging properties. A common method for borrowing money (from the

bank) is to take out a mortgage on your property (land or investment).

Mortgages are not permitted until any existing hotel or houses on the property

have been sold back to the bank. The maximum amount that can be borrowed

is 50% of the stated property value. Rent cannot be collected on a property

while it is mortgaged. The mortgage may be paid off at any time by paying

back the borrowed amount plus interest.

The accounting for a mortgaged property is fairly straight-forward. The asset is still owned, so

it should to continue to be reported as an asset on the balance sheet. In addition, a liability has

now been incurred, which goes in the liability section of the balance sheet. For example, if

Illinois Avenue (list price of $240) is mortgaged on 3/4, the entry is written as:

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
3/4 + C 120 = +MP 120 no entry + FA 120= +120

Interest. According to the original rules, the bank charges 10% interest for

a mortgage regardless of how long it is outstanding. In this simulation

game the bank charges interest on mortgages at the rate of 13% per year

(1.0% per turn) rounded to the nearest dollar. At the end of each year, an

adjusting entry needs to be made for accrued interest. For example, if

CAR borrows $120 for a mortgaged property on turn 3/4, at the end of the

year CAR would accrue interest of $9 ($120 * 0.01 * 9 = $11). There are

no pennies in Monopoly, so you must round to the nearest dollar.

Paying off mortgages. The mortgage can be paid off at any time by paying back the borrowed

amount plus accrued interest. For example, if the preceding mortgage was instead paid back

on 4/2, eleven months of interest would have to be paid back (120 * 0.01 * 11= 13). This $11

would be divided into the $11 accrued on the 3/13 adjusting entry, and $2 (120 * .01 * 2) being

recorded now for the first time.
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Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
3/4 + C 120 = +MP 120 no entry + FA 120= +120

3/11 0 = +IP 11 RE 11 IntExp 11 = NI 11 no entry

4/2 C 133 = MP 120 IP 11 RE 2 IntExp 2 = NI 2 OA 13 FA 120 = 133

Selling or trading away a mortgaged property. When mortgaged property is transferred to

another company (i.e., bankruptcy or sale), then the mortgage with all accrued interest is

assumed by the acquirer.

3. Selling or trading properties from one company to another. A company may decide to

buy, sell, or trade properties with another.

Cash Sale. The accounting for a sale by one company and the purchase by anther company is

very straight-forward. The selling company adds cash, takes the recorded value of the land or

investment off the books and records a gain or loss on the transaction (the difference between

the amount of cash received and the recorded book value of the asset given up.

For example, DOG owns New York Avenue (recorded at a cost of $200). THIMBLE owns the

other two properties and wants to buy it. The actual transaction on 2/11 is DOG selling New

York to THIMBLE for $500.

Dog’s entry:

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
2/11 +C 500 P200 = +RE 300 +G 300 = +NI 300 + IA 500= +500

Thimble’s entry:

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
2/11 C 500 +P500 = 0 no entry  IA 500= 500

Excess recorded property value. THIMBLE has $300 of excess recorded property value on

New York Avenue. Excess recorded property value is the difference between the fair value of

the property ($500 in this example) and the board listed value of the property ($200 for New

York Avenue). Under current GAAP and IFRS, the proper accounting for excess recorded



8For further guidance, refer to the textbook discussion of asset impairment
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property value (also called Goodwill) is to write it down if the property ever loses value.8

For example, assume that THIMBLE experiences some bad luck, and by the end of the third

year (3/13) it becomes apparent that no houses or hotels are going to be built on the orange

property group in the near future. Hence, in hindsight, THIMBLE paid too much for New

York Avenue. Since the value of New York has declined, it is now appropriate to remove the

excess recorded property from the books:

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
3/13 P 300 = RE 300 L 300 = NI 300 no entry

Trading properties between companies. Trading properties is an excellent way to achieve

monopolies. Remove from the books the recorded book value of property (land or investment)

traded away, and add to the books the fair value of property received. The difference between

the fair value received and the book value given up is recorded as a gain or loss on disposal.

For example, note the entry in CAR's managerial diary:

Trade with SHOE a possibility. I have two Greens (Pacific & NC) & two Reds (KY & IN), SHOE
has one of each (PA & IL). These groups represent my best chance for achieving a monopoly.
Because there is little price difference in the houses, I think I prefer the Greens because they get
more rent with houses. Actual trade with SHOE: two Reds traded away for one Green (PA), one
Orange (TN, I will now have two Oranges), and one Purple (Baltic, my first).

The total value received is $1,300 [PA, worth $900 (cash I would pay if I had it; or the present
value of future house & hotel rents), TN, worth $300 (it should have appreciated a little), Baltic,
worth $100]

Book value given up is $440 (KY & IN's historical cost). Accounting gain = 1,300 - 440 = 860. I
think that the two Reds are probably worth about $1,300, based on potential future earnings.

CAR's journal entry is:

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
3/4 +P 1,300 P 440 = +RE 860 +G 860 = +NI 860 no entry

(Book values of new land are PA=900, TN = 300, Baltic = 100)

CAR has $740 of excess recorded property value on the three properties ($900 - $320 = $580

for Pennsylvania, $300 - $180 = $120 for Tennessee, and $100-60=$40 for Baltic) Excess

recorded property value, you may recall, is the difference between the fair value of the property

and the board listed value of the property. As discussed in the above section for a cash sale of
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property, this excess recorded property value must be written down if its value becomes

impaired.

SHOE must take three properties off the books: Pennsylvania Avenue ($320), Tennessee

Avenue ($180) and Baltic Avenue ($60), $560 in total. If SHOE values the two acquired Red

properties to be $800 (different companies may estimate different fair values), then SHOE's

journal entry is:

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
3/4 +P 800 P 560 = +RE 240 +G 240 = +NI 240 no entry

(Book values of new land are KY = 400, IN = 400)

SHOE has $360 excess value on the two properties received (800  220  220).

Appraised value of real estate. The Monopoly game contains no

mechanism for determining the fair market value of property as anything

other than the nominal value listed on the game board, but knowing the fair

market value is necessary for recording the transaction when property is

traded. Valuation is performed separately by each company. The following

rule of thumb is intended only as a guide. Assume that the market value of

land and investments increases by 3% every month (compounded monthly)

as long as it is owned. Rental and mortgage values are not affected by this

change. For example, assume that New York Avenue was acquired for $200 on 1/9 and was

traded on 3/1. It's market value after 18 months (four months in year one + thirteen months in

year two + one month in year three) to the acquiring company can be computed as $340 (200 *

1.03^18 = 200 * 1.70243 = 340).

Giving or receiving future considerations when acquiring property. It is permissible to

give an opponent a future "free ride" or discount if it will facilitate making a trade. This is

called a contingency (gain for the company receiving it, and loss for the company giving it).

For further guidance, refer to the textbook chapter on contingencies.

Assume that CAR trades New York Avenue (historical cost = $200) to HORSE for

Connecticut Avenue, Kentucky Avenue, $100, and two free rides on the oranges. CAR does

not create a new monopoly, but HORSE now has a monopoly on the orange group.

CAR cannot record a contingent receivable (potential receipt of free rent on Oranges) as an

asset. Therefore, its accounting gain is understated. CAR calculates an accounting gain on the



© 2004, 2008 by W. David Albrecht, All rights reserved. 28

trade of $340:

Fair Market Value received:
Connecticut Avenue 180
Kentucky Avenue 260
Cash 100

Book Value given up:
New York Avenue (200)

Gain 340

CAR's journal entry is:

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
3/4 +C 100 +P440 P200 = +RE 340 +G 340 = +NI 340 + IA 100= +100

CAR will make no entries the next two times that it lands on HORSE's orange properties.

Until the contingent receivable is completely realized, all details related to the contingency

(including value received during the year) are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Under GAAP, HORSE can record a contingent liability as a balance sheet liability with a

description of the arrangement and remaining unused liability in the notes to the financial

statements. It should not recognize an accounting loss on the acquisition of new property.

Assume that HORSE estimates that the value of the contingent liability is expected to be $500

for each free ride (resulting from an estimation or guess of what it will receive in the future).

The total amount, then, that HORSE is paying for the acquired properties is 340 (land) + 100

(cash) + 1,000 (free rent) HORSE's journal entry is:

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
3/4 C 100 +P1,4440 P340 = +Oliab 1,000 no entry  IA 100= 100

Horse records the acquisition of New York Avenue as a debit to Land for 1,440. This includes

excess recorded value of 1,240 (1,440  200). Remember, all values for recorded land that are

in excess of the list value should be written down if there is an impairment of value. An

impairment of value in this case would be if Horse fails to build houses/hotels on the oranges

and high rents are never collected.

Later on now, CAR lands on HORSE's orange properties. On the first occasion (turn 3/9),

HORSE's rent due is $500. On the second visit (turn 4/2), CAR's rent due is $450. HORSE

makes these entries:
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Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
3/9 0 = OLiab 500 +RE 500 +RRev 500= +NI 500 no entry

4/2 P 50 = OLiab 500 +RE 450 +Rrev 450 = +NI 450 no entry
(Land is decreased because it was overstated in the original entry.)

If the rent excused is less than the estimated amount in Other Liability, then the Other Liability
is written down to zero and the recorded value of the land is also written down.

If, on the other hand, the rent excused on 4/2 is $1,000, then rent revenue is limited to the
remaining amount of Other Liability and the following entry is made.

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
4/2 0 = OLiab 500 +RE 500 +RRev 500= +NI 500 no entry

4. Accounting for Hotels.

Building hotels. When a hotel is erected, the four houses already

sitting on the property must be turned back in. Any depreciation

recorded for the houses carries over to the hotels. [Houses and hotels

are depreciated over 50 months, including the months of acquisition

and disposition.] For example, assume that a player erected 12 houses on the Orange property

group on 2/13 (4 houses on each property). On 2/13, depreciation expense is recorded:

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
2/13 C 1,200 +H 1,200 = 0 no entry IA 1,200 = 1,200

2/13 AD 12 = RE 12 DExp 12 = NI 12 no entry
(for one month depreciation (100-50)÷50 = $1/mo* 1 mo * 12 houses = $12)

Assume that on 3/1, hotels are erected on all three properties. The cost of the hotel is like a

cost of a fifth house, and is added to Houses & Hotels.

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
3/1 C 300 +H 300 = 0 no entry IA 300 = 300

Depreciation will henceforth be calculated as if there were 15 houses (3 hotels at 5 houses per

hotel).



9For further guidance, refer to the textbook discussions of disposal of long-term tangible
assets.
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Selling houses or hotels to bank. Existing houses or hotels can be sold back to the bank as

needed. They cannot be sold directly to other companies under any circumstances. The

bank only pays 50% of the original board cost. As a result, you must recognize an accounting

loss. The amount of accounting loss to be recognized is computed as follows:

Proceeds from sale (50% of stated board value)

Less: Book value (Historical cost less up-to-date accumulated depreciation)

For example, let us assume that a house on New York Avenue (originally purchased on 2/10

for $100) is sold back to the bank on 3/4. Monthly depreciation is (100-50)÷50 = $1.

Assuming that the proper adjusting entry was recorded on 2/13 (increase Depreciation

Expense for $4, increase Accumulated Depreciation–Houses for $4), then depreciation

expense is brought up-to-date by recognizing four months of depreciation ($4), and a Loss on

Disposal of $42 is recognized (proceeds of $50 less book value of $92 (100-8)). The two

entries to record the sale of the house would be:9

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
3/4 AD 4 = RE 4  DExp 4 = NI 4 no entry

(Four months depreciation ($1*4 = $4)

3/4 +C 50 H 100 +AD8 = RE 42 L 42 = NI 42 +IA 50 = +50

5. Bankruptcy. When a company runs out of cash and property and still owes money to a

company or the bank, that company is considered bankrupt and would be out of the game.

Financial statements could be prepared as of the date of bankruptcy but would show little of

interest. For this simulation game, no company is allowed to quit the game. If a company runs

out of cash and is ready to forfeit remaining property (and, thus, would normally be out of the

game), then (1) the bankrupt company must transfer all properties but one (choice to the

bankrupt company), and (2) the bank will advance to the company as much money (in

multiples of $200), at 26% interest, as he or she needs to keep in the game.

For example, if a poor company (CAR) lands on property with a large rent due ($950), CAR

must first mortgage all properties in an attempt to raise sufficient cash to pay the rent. Assume

CAR only has $75 on hand and two unmortgaged properties (Park Place and Boardwalk).

CAR must first mortgage its properties:
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Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
3/7 +C 375 = +MP 375 no entry +FA 375 = +375

CAR is still deficient, and has no recourse but to declare bankruptcy. When an insufficient

amount of cash is raised, the bankrupt company must transfer all property but one (choice to

the bankrupt company) to the landlord demanding rent. If CAR decides to keep Park Place and

transfer Boardwalk, the property should be written off the books in the following manner, and

rent paid.

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
3/7 P 400 = MP 200 RE 200  L 200 = NI 200 no entry

3/7 C 450 = RE 450 RExp 450 = NI 450 OA 450 = 450

The landlord also assumes any accrued interest on the loan. The landlord makes the following

entries:

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
3/7 +C 450 = +RE 450 +RRev 450= +NI 450 +OA 450= +450

3/7 +P 200 = +MP 200 no entry no entry

The bankrupt company, CAR, then continues to play the game. It may borrow sufficient funds

from the bank (in $100 increments at 26% interest) at any time to continue in the game. The

bankrupt company cannot use the borrowed funds to unmortgage his/her sole piece of property,

build a house on it or to buy or trade for any additional piece of property. All Chance and

Community Chest cards apply except that no unowned property may be purchased.



10When passing go soon after the start of the next accounting period (turn x), the
following entry is made when collecting $200:

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
2/x +C 200 Rec 150 = +RE 50 +SRev 50 = +NI 50 +OA 200 = +200
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Accounting Adjustments at the End of Each Year

Prepare and post the following year-end adjusting entries [Please disclose all computations when

handing in the material]:

1. Cash over or short. Sometimes, the amount of cash actually on hand (on cash memo) is

different from the amount of cash in the balance sheet account for cash. The correct number is

the amount of cash actually on hand, as that has been counted and verified by an opponent. If

the source of the discrepancy cannot be found, the cash account on the balance sheet needs to

be adjusted. If your cash account balance is less than it should be, make an adjustment in

which you debit Cash and increase Miscellaneous Revenue. Conversely, if your cash account

balance is more than it should be, make an adjustment in which you decrease Cash and

increase Miscellaneous Expense.

2. Salary: Accrue unpaid salary for every full side of the board that you are past "Go." For

example, if you are on the side of the board just past "Go," accrue no salary but if you are on

the side with Boardwalk, accrue 75% ($150).10

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
1/13 +Rec 150 = +RE 150 +SRev 450 = +NI 450 no entry

3. Interest: If any properties are mortgaged, accrue interest at 13% percent for the number of

turns that the money has been borrowed. For example, if $200 was borrowed on turn 1/10,

accrue $200 x 13% x 3/13 for the first year.

4. Depreciation: Assume that all houses and hotels have an expected useful life of nearly four

years (50 months). Depreciation should be recorded for the total number of months that a

house or hotel is owned, including the month of

construction and the month of disposition. Don't forget the

estimated salvage value (potential proceeds from 50%
Cost less future resale value

Purchase cost
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sell-back). For example, the monthly depreciation on Baltic Avenue is ($50 - $25) / 50 =

$0.50. If a house is erected on turn 3/8, then six months of depreciation (8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13) is

to be recognized for the year, a total of $3.

5. Write down of excess recorded property value: Excess recorded property value is the

difference between the fair value of the property and the board listed value of the property. If

the owner of the property does not build houses/hotels on the properties of the group, then

anticipated high rents probably will never be realized and the property must be written down.

For example, if excess recorded property value is initially $300 and must be written down to

zero at the end of year three, then entry is:

Balance Sheet Income Statement Cash Flows Statement
Date A = L + SHE R - E = NI OA + IA + FA = NCF
3/13 P 300 = RE 300 L 300 = NI 300 no entry

6. Adjustment for Income Tax. Each year, all companies are levied a tax on the income for that

year. During the accounting cycle when adjustments are made, Income Tax Expense is

computed and recorded, but not paid. The payment (made to the bank, not Free Parking) takes

place on turn four (April) of the next year.

In Real Money Lite, the fourth square past GO has a special meaning. The

square's instruction is for the company to pay either (1) $200 or (2) 10% of

its total assets (both cash on hand and the value of all property). These tax

payments (usually $200) are added to the lottery jackpot and should be

considered as Prepaid Income Tax, a current asset.

The first step in preparing the income tax adjustment is to compute the amount of tax owed.

The Real Money Lite procedure is for taxes to be paid on the amount of pre-tax income from

the income statement. Pre-tax income is all revenues less all expenses. All the other

adjustments (salary, depreciation, etc.) should already be included.

The amount of tax owed is computed by taking the amount of pre-tax income times the tax

rate, according to the following schedule:

Accounting pre-tax income Tax rate
$0 to $1,000 10%
$1,001 to $2,000 20% on income above $1,000 plus $100
$2,001 to $3,000 30% on income above $2,000 plus $300
above $3,000 40% on income above $3,000 plus $600
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If a company reports $500 of accounting pre-tax income, the amount of taxes due would be

$500 * .1 = $50. If a company reports $1,400 of accounting pre-tax income, the amount of

taxes due would be ($1,000 * .1 = $100) + ($400 * .2) = $100 + $80 = $180. If a company

reports accounting pre-tax income of $2,600, the amount of taxes due would be ($1,000 * .1 =

$100) + ($1,000 * .2 = $200) + ($600 * .3) = $480.

The second step is to make the adjustment to the accounts. Assume that a company has pre-tax

income in year two of $2,600 and the amount of taxes due is $480. The 2/13 adjustment is to

debit income tax expense and credit income tax payable and , both for $480.

The third step is to actually pay the amount of tax. Taxes are not paid until 3/4. The entry in

the year three accounts is to debit income tax payable and credit cash. Tax payments are paid

directly to the bank, not to Free Parking.

When there is prepaid income tax: The preceding section explains the accounting for when

there is no prepaid tax from landing on the income tax square. If you had prepaid tax, then

steps two and three change.

When the balance in Prepaid Income Tax exceeds the amount of Income Tax Expense, a

refund is due the company. This refund is received directly from the bank and not Free

Parking. Tax refunds are during April (turn four) of the next year.

For example, assume that a company landed on the income tax square and prepaid income tax

of $200 (the entry was to debit Prepaid Income Tax, a current asset) on 3/6. On 3/13, Income

Tax Expense is computed as $120. Because $200 has been prepaid, no additional payment is

required now. This overpayment of $80 means a refund is due from the bank at turn 4/4. The

entry to record the income tax adjustment is to debit Income Tax Expense for $120, debit

(increase) Receivables for $80, and credit Prepaid Income Tax for $200. On turn 4/4 when

the $80 refund is received from the bank, debit cash and credit receivables.

When the balance in prepaid income tax is less than the amount of income tax expense,

additional taxes must be paid to the bank on turn four of the next year. For example, assume

that a company landed on the income tax square and prepaid income tax of $200 on 3/6. On

3/13, income tax expense is computed as $330. Because $200 has been paid already, only

$130 remains to be paid, due on turn 4/4. The year three adjustment on turn 3/13 is to debit

Income Tax Expense for $330, credit Income Tax Payable for $130, and credit (decrease)

Prepaid Income Tax for $200. On turn 4/4, the company pays only $130 to the bank.
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Net Operating Loss. If a company has income in early years and a loss in later years, taxes

paid in early years are refunded in the later years, with the taxes from the earliest year taken

first. This is called a net operating loss carry-back/carry-forward. The tax refund may not be

larger than total taxes paid in earlier years. For example, assume that a company reported

pre-tax earnings of $960 in year one and $1,100 in year two. Accordingly, taxes of $96 and

$120 were paid on 2/4 and 3/4, respectively. Now, if this company reported a pre-tax loss of

$2,500 in year three, it may apply $960 of the loss against year one earnings and receive a

refund of $96. The remaining operating loss of $1,540 ($2,500 - 960) can then be applied

against year two earnings to receive an additional refund of $120. The adjustment for this

would be to debit Receivable for 216 and credit (decrease) Income Tax Expense. On turn 4/4,

$216 is received from the bank and the entry is to debit Cash and credit Receivables.

The residual net operating loss of $440 ($1,540 - $1,100) is reserved for later use. Operating

losses may or may not transfer in case of bankruptcy, depending on your instructor’s

instructions.



© 2004, 2008 by W. David Albrecht, All rights reserved. 36

Example of the Accounting Cycle

Recently, a game of Monopoly® was played by four contestants. The

companies in the game were CAR, THIMBLE, SHOE and HAT. Here is the

accounting work for SHOE as it walked to a nice profit by the end of year

one.

Manager's Diary
1/1 Roll 5. Moved to Reading Railroad. Bought it for $200 [Decision rule: buy all unowned

property]. [Cash: $1,500 - $200 = $1,300]

1/2 Roll 8. Moved to States Avenue. Bought it for $140 [Decision rule: buy all unowned
property]. [Cash: $1,300 - $140 = $1,160]

1/3 Roll 7. Moved to Free Parking. Collected $565. [Cash: $1,160 + $565 = $1,725]

1/4 Roll 8. Moved to Water Works. Bought it for $150 [Decision rule: buy all unowned
property]. [Cash: $1,725 - $150 = $1,575]

1/5 Roll 9. Moved to Chance (fourth side of board). Advanced to Illinois Avenue. Passed Go,
collected $200. Bought it for $240 [Decision rule: buy all unowned property]. [Cash: $1,575
+ $200 - $240 = $1,535]

1/6 Roll 8. Moved to Chance (fourth side of board). Received "Get-out-of-jail-free" card. [Cash:
$1,535 + 0 = $1,535]

1/7 Roll 7. Moved to Baltic. Pay $4 rent to THIMBLE. Collected $200 for passing Go. [Cash:
$1,535 - $4 + 200 = $1,731]

1/8 Roll 6. Moved to Connecticut. Bought it for $120 [Decision rule: buy all unowned property].
Collected $20 rent from HAT on Illinois. [Cash: $1,731 - $120 + $20 = $1,631]

1/9 Roll 6 (doubles). Moved to Pennsylvania Railroad. Bought it for $200 [Decision rule: buy all
unowned property]. Roll 3. Moved to Tennessee Avenue. Paid rent of $14 to HAT. [Cash:
$1,631 - $200 - $14 = $1,417]

1/10 Roll 12. Went to jail. [Cash: $1,417 + 0 = $1,417]

1/11 Used "Get-out-of-jail-free" card to get out of jail. Roll 6. Moved to St. James. Paid $14 rent
to CAR. [Cash: $1,417 - $14 = $1,403]

1/12 Roll 9. Moved to B&O Railroad. Paid $25 rent to THIMBLE. Collected $50 investment
income from HAT on Pennsylvania Railroad. [Cash: $1,403 - $25 + $50 = $1,428]
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1/13 Roll 6 (doubles). Moved to Pacific. Bought it for $300 [Decision rule: buy all unowned
property]. Roll 6. Moved to Park Place, ooh la la! Bought it for $350 [Decision rule: buy all
unowned property]. [Cash: $1,428 - $300 - $350 = $778]
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Horizontal Model

Net

C Rec P = ITP CC RE RREv SRev MRev RExp MExp ITExp = NI OA IA FA = Cash

1/1 1,500 = 1,500 1,500 = 1,500

1/1 (200) 200 = (200) = (200)

1/2 (140) 140 = (140) = (140)

1/3 565 = 565 565 = 565 565 = 565

1/4 (150) 150 = (150) = (150)

1/5 200 = 200 200 = 200 200 = 200

1/5 (240) 240 = (240) = (240)

1/6 = = 0

1/7 200 = 200 200 = 200 200 = 200

1/7 (4) = (4) (4) = (4) (4) = (4)

1/8 (120) 120 = (120) = (120)

1/8 20 = 20 20 = 20 20 = 20

1/9 (200) 200 = (200) = (200)

1/9 (14) = (14) (14) = (14) (14) = (14)

1/10 = = 0

1/11 50 (50) = 0 = 0

1/11 (14) = (14) (14) = (14) (14) = (14)

1/12 (25) = (25) (25) = (25) (25) = (25)

1/12 50 = 50 50 = 50 50 = 50

1/13 (300) 300 = (300) = (300)

1/13 (350) 350 = (350) = (350)

Sum 778 0 1,700 = 0 1,500 978 56 400 615 (43) (50) = 978 978 (1,700) 1,500 = 778

150 150 150 = 150

1/13 98 (98) (126) = (126)

Sum 778 150 1,700 = 98 1,500 1,030 56 550 615 (43) (50) (126) = 1,002 978 (1,700) 1,500 = 778
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Financial Statements

These sample statements include accounts with zero balances, just so you can see proper

placement. When you prepare your financial statements, you should omit items with a zero balance.

Shoe
Income Statement for Year One

Rent Revenue $20
Investment Income 50

Total Rental & Investment Income 70
Rent Expense 57
Repair and Maintenance Expense 0

Net Rental Income (Loss) 13
Salary Revenue 550
Miscellaneous Revenue 615
Total Revenues & Income 1,178
Depreciation Expense 0
Miscellaneous Expenses 50

Operating Income 1,128
Interest Revenue 0
Interest Expense 0
Gains on Disposal of Property/Buildings 0
Losses on Disposal of Property/Buildings 0

0
Pre-tax Income 1,128

Income Tax Expense (Refund) 126
Net Income 1,002
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Shoe
Balance Sheet at end of Year One

Current Assets
Cash $778
Receivables 150
Total Current Assets 928

Noncurrent Assets
Notes Receivable 0
Investments in Railroads & Utilities 550
Land 1,150
Houses (Net) 0
Hotels (Net) 0
Total Noncurrent Assets 1,700
Total Assets 2,628

Liabilities
Interest Payable 0
Taxes Payable 126
Mortgage Payable 0
Notes Payable 0
Total Liabilities 126

Owner's Equity
Contributed Capital 1,500
Retained Earnings 1,002
Total Owner's Equity 2,502
Total Liabilities and Owner's Equity 2,628

Shoe
Statement of Cash Flows for Year One

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Received from passing Go + $400
Received from rentals and investments + 70
Received from miscellaneous + 565
aid for rentals  57
Total Cash Flows from Operating Activities + 978

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Paid for purchase of land - 1,150
Paid for purchase of investments - 550
Total Cash Flows from Investing Activities - 1,700

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Initial capital + 1,500

Total Cash Flows from Financing Activities + 1,500
Net Change in Cash + 778
Beginning Cash + 0
Ending Cash $778



© 2004, 2008 by W. David Albrecht, All rights reserved. 41

Shoe
Statement of Changes in Stockholders Equity

Beginning contributed capital $0
+ New capital received + 1,500
Ending contributed capital $1,500

Beginning retained earnings $0
+ Net income +1,002
Ending retained earnings + $1,002

A more complete set of financial statements appears in the section of instructions for the annual
report.



© 2004, 2008 by W. David Albrecht, All rights reserved. 42

Instructions for preparing
the Annual Report to Stockholders

Please read these instructions after doing the accounting but before submitting assignments one,
three, five or seven. Students that don't read these instructions make mistakes and take longer to
complete assignments.

* Overview of the Annual Report to Stockholders
* CEO letter–the annual message from the CEO to the stockholders.

* Financial highlights–financial performance of the company at a glance.

* Management discussion & analysis of financial statements–the financial
statements are explained by “management”.

* Financial statements–balance sheet, income statement, statement of cash flows and
statement of changes in stockholders equity.

* Notes to the financial statements–significant accounting policies, property and
buildings, long-term debt, contingencies.

* Certification of financial statements–required by Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.
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11The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) requires two annual reports. One, the
Annual Report to Shareholders is sent only to a company’s shareholders. The other, the Annual
Report on Form 10-K, is intended for the entire investing community. The 10-K is filed with the
SEC and is made available to the public via the Internet from the SEC’s web site.

12Some companies have two or more classes of common stock, and voting rights can
differ from class to class. For example, the founding family might hold shares of a super class of
common stock, entitling each share to several votes, while the class of publicly held common
stock entitles each share to one vote.
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Overview—Annual Report to Stockholders

The Annual Report to Stockholders is an important publication for every

publicly traded corporation. It is sent directly from the corporation to its

stockholders, and contains its audited financial statements as well as required

and optional selected information (some of it non-financial) about the

company.11 Before reviewing its most common components, a discussion of

corporate governance is in order.

The modern American corporation is owned by thousands (or more) of

individual investors. For example, Microsoft had 117,730 stockholders registered on June 30, 2002.

AT&T's stock is owned by more people than any other corporation. It had more than 3.3 million

shareholders on December 31, 2002!

Common stock shareholders annually elect representatives to the Board of Directors.12 The Board

of Directors is responsible for several aspects of the company, such as establishing corporate goals

and hiring a chief executive officer (CEO). The CEO runs the company, develops strategies and

programs to realize its goals.

The election process is started In the third month following the close of the fiscal year. Various

issues of corporate governance are brought to vote: electing new members to the board of directors,

ratifying the corporate auditors, and establishing strategic policies of the corporation. Shareholders

for a company may vote in person at the company's annual stockholders

meeting or they may vote by mail by completing a proxy authorizing their

number of votes be cast a certain way.

The executive management team and the board of directors take this election

very seriously, as it determines who is in charge of running the company! When the new Board of

Directors is seated, one of its most important duties is to ratify the contract of the chief executive



13A somewhat different view of an annual report to shareholders in presented by Guy
Iannuzzi John Stoepler of Mentus Corp. In “Don’t hide behind your 10-K,” available at
http://www.mentus.com/img/hide_10-K.pdf. they say, “it should present a clear sense of the
company strategy, culture and vision with the ultimate purpose of enabling investors to
understand the company’s true value.”
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officer (CEO) or hire a new one. Who nominates the directors? Usually the current CEO. The

nominated slate of directors usually runs unopposed and receives 99%+ of shareholder votes. The

nominated slate has a great advantage, because the CEO controls what is sent out in the AR.

Essentially, the AR is designed to get the nominated slate of directors successfully elected. The AR

contains required and optional information. Except for the audited financial

statements (contents dictated by GAAP), the AR contains only that

information the executive officers of the company want the stockholders to

have. It is a document carefully crafted to help get the nominated slate of

directors elected so that they can re-hire the executive management team. A

great incentive is present to motivate management to put a spin on anything

in the AR. 13

The AR usually contains these components. The AR has evolved over time

as the SEC has added and dropped requirements for certain components or

sections. The first item is a letter from the CEO, which is essentially a

campaign speech. The second component consists of optional promotional material casting the

company in a favorable light. Then follows a required section on the financial highlights of the

company's performance in the recently closed fiscal year. The highlights are spun in the company's

favor, of course. Then comes the required management discussion and analysis of financial results.

Then come the required audited financial statements, of which the notes are an integral part. These

are followed by a document signed by the CEO certifying the financial statements as correct.

Finally, the AR closes with a list of company officers and directors along with company contact

information. In recent years, many companies have taken to sending out two documents to its

stockholders, a 10-K (MD&A, financial statements, CEO certification, and other required financial

information) and an abridged AR containing only items not found in the 10-K.

In the Real Money Lite simulation game, students prepare an annual report consisting of the CEO's

letter, financial highlights, a management discussion and analysis (MD&A) of the financial results,

financial statements with notes and a CEO certification of the financial statements.

The story told in an Annual
Report is frequently spun
around in a company’s

favor.
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CEO Letter

The Annual Report to Stockholders is sent directly from the corporation to its

stockholders at nearly the same time as is the proxy for voting on matters of

corporate governance. Chief among these matters is the election of directors to

the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors is responsible for several

aspects of the company, including hiring a chief executive officer (CEO). The

CEO can be the President, the Chairman of the Board of Directors, or both.

The Annual Report to Stockholders (AR) contains only that information the

executive officers of the company want the stockholders to have. It is a document carefully crafted

to help get the nominated slate of directors elected so that they can re-hire the executive management

team. The incentive is present to motivate management to put a spin on anything in the AR.

The first component in the AR is a letter from the CEO. This letter

is essentially a campaign speech. Have no doubt about it. If the

CEO cites fact, then it is from a very select group of flattering facts.

Although no CEO should ever be straight forward enough to directly

state, "Vote for me!" or "Vote for my directors!", it clearly is the

central message.

The essential ingredients of a campaign speech are (1) a vision or plan for the future and (2) a

statement of qualification. These need be in no particular order or in any given weighting. For

example, the CEO letter may be nearly all vision or nearly all qualification, based of the perceived

condition of the economy, company or CEO.

Every CEO letter should contain a vision for the future. This answers every

stockholder's primary question, "If I leave my money in this corporation, what

are you going to do with it." Although a communicated vision is essential, it

may very well be disadvantageous to provide too much detail about the plans

for the future. After all, if a candidate describes intended plans, then the

electorate may view it as promised actions. Unfilled or broken promises can

come back to haunt the CEO in the future.

Most CEO letters contain the CEO's qualifications for running the company. These are subtly

introduced. An incumbent CEO of course will want to humbly take credit for the company's past

successes. If the incumbent CEO is under fire for lower than expected corporate profits or

controversial strategies, then blame must be deflected, minimized or turned into an advantage!
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Throughout the CEO letter, value-laden terms should be used. These are words such as quality,

excellence, change, perseverance and promise. The use of such words helps modify the emotions of

the reader.

In Real Money Lite, all students will prepare a CEO letter for each year's annual report. It should be

approximately one or two pages in length, possibly with a total of three or four paragraphs.

CEO Letter from 1988 AMR Annual Report

CEO letters in actual corporate annual reports have grown longer over the years. In the 1980s a letter

frequently could have been printed on one page. In the 2000s, they frequently extend over two or

three pages.

The CEO letter in the 1998 annual report for AMR Corp. (American Airlines) is

a classic. It is succinctly worded and presented on one page. The earnings for

fiscal 1987 were down. The airline industry was undergoing incredible change,

having been recently deregulated. In addition, Robert Crandall, CEO, had been

sharply criticized for his direction of AMR.

In the following paragraphs, both the CEO letter and an analysis is provided. The text of the CEO

letter is shaded in green. The analysis is shaded in red.

Letter from the Chairman and President
To our stockholders, employees and customers:

Our 1987 earnings were a disappointment to all of us at AMR. Net income was $198.4
million or $3.28 per share, down from $279.1 million or $4.63 per share in 1986.

Particularly disappointing was our $0.8 million fourth quarter loss which, although not
large, is the first quarterly loss since the first quarter of 1983. Some of the factors that
adversely affected fourth quarter results were a strike threat during the peak travel period in
December, unusually severe weather that disrupted operations at several key cities and
unrealized foreign exchange losses stemming from a foreign currency financing.

When there is bad news and it is all anyone is talking about, then it can't be
ignored. Crandall does a masterful job of putting it up front before anyone can
criticize him for passing over it or delaying discussion.

Simultaneously (in the same paragraph), Crandall attempts to deflect criticism
away from him and the company. Poor profitability is due to a strike threat (darn
those pesky unions!), bad weather (who can do anything about the weather?) and
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foreign currency fluctuations (blame that on other governments or currency
speculators).

Nevertheless, we should have done better, not only in the quarter but in the year as a
whole. Having said that, we continue to believe we are on the right course, and that the
benefits of many of the good things we did in 1987 will be reaped in 1988 and the years ahead.

How magnanimous of Crandall. After making a case that it wasn't his fault, he
goes ahead and takes responsibility. This is carefully crafted to cast him in a
favorable position. First, this supports his position as the person in charge (similar
to what Harry Truman meant when he said, "The buck stops here.") Second, even
though the stockholders have been reminded that Crandall is in charge, they are
less inclined to hold unfavorable results against Crandall.

Now Crandall starts talking about the future and his vision for it. And, he's
promising a rosier future. Good times are about to return!

I am particularly gratified by the agreement reached late in the year with our flight
attendants. That negotiation was long and troublesome. We believe that the six-year
agreement is an excellent result for all concerned. The fact that it was reached without a strike
is a attribute to the collective bargaining process and the perseverance of the negotiators.

What Crandall does here is very difficult. He takes a matter on which he has been
heavily and acrimoniously criticized (the strike threats) and turns it to his
advantage. His message is clear. "Anyone else in charge of the company would
have screwed it up. I was able to negotiate an impossibly good deal." Notice his
humility in giving the negotiators the credit.

In the pages that follow we will tell you about some of the challenges we faced in 1987
and how we responded to them. It was a busy year in terms of growth, and an article on our
growing route system appears on page 11.

It was also a year in which the quality of airline service received more attention--from the
media, the government, the traveling public and the airlines themselves--than ever before. For
that reason, our new program, "QuAAlity From the Ground Up," is not only the subject of an
article on page 16 but is also a recurring theme in this report.

The relationship between our unit costs and our growth plan receives a great deal of
attention within the company. It is also followed closely by the financial community. We take
a detailed look at our unit costs and the factors that affect them in an article on page 18.

Here is where Crandall starts laying forth his platform, i.e., his vision. "There will
be growth!" We all want growth, shouldn't that result in larger profits? "There
will be quality!" Who doesn't want to own the Cadillac of airlines, especially when
it will be so profitable? "There will be cost control!" This is great, Crandall really
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has a handle on running an airline company.

Also note how each part of his future requires just a little more explanation. The
reports on later pages are excellent public relations. There is more glitz and glamor
than substance.

We have frequently emphasized the importance of yield management to profitability.
However, many observers of the airline industry have a less than thorough understanding of
the techniques we use as we seek to maximize system revenues. An article that we hope will be
enlightening to all readers appears on page 22.

Uncharacteristically, Crandall takes a direct swipe at his critics. He obviously feels
that direct confrontation with his critics is called for here. Normally, public
relations experts advise not mentioning your critics by name nor referring directly
to them. To do so gives them free publicity.

One great frustration in 1987 was our inability to market SABRE, the finest computer
reservations system in the world, to travel agents in Europe. It is not for lack of trying; we are
faced with a number of trade barriers that we have thus far been unable to penetrate. The
problem is both real and serious, and is described in an article on page 26.

Because of disparities in size, AMR subsidiaries other than American Airlines often do
not get the publicity they deserve. The progress that has been made at AMR Services is
especially gratifying, and is described in a story on page 29. Another subsidiary--AMR
Information Services--spent 1987 building for its future, which we believe has great promise
Its current posture is highlighted on page 9.

Crandall builds toward his grand finale by citing other beneficial accomplishments.
Each accomplishment builds on the previous. The list goes on and on.

1988 will be another year of change, during which our goal will be to ensure that the
preparatory work of 1987, and our quality initiative, produce a more profitability result than
last year. Absent a major downward trend in the economy or a significant increase in fuel
costs, we believe that the groundwork now in place, and the clear commitment of all of our
people, will produce very positive results for AMR and its subsidiaries.

Crandall ends with a rousing finish. There will be change, quality and more
profits! Any way you look at it, things will go better for AMR in the future.

Sincerely,

/s/ Robert L. Crandall

Robert L. Crandall
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
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Financial Highlights

A picture is often said to be worth a thousand words. The essence of the

section of financial highlights is to paint an optimistic picture of the

financial performance of the company in a few simple graphs.

The key to an effective section of financial highlights is to remember that

this is where the CEO continues to spin a story of a successful company.

Successful companies always grow in size and/or become more profitable.

The section of financial highlights usually contains three tables of key financial numbers that are

constantly increasing for the past few years or quarter (or Real Money months). It does not matter

what the key number is about. Oh, it is good if it can be total assets or net income or operating

income, but it doesn’t have to be. It merely is something that is (1) constantly increasing, and (2) the

rate of growth is high. I have even seen obscure ratios used, because they were the only items with

an upward, or positive, trend.

Here is the section of financial highlights for Tiffany & Co. in its 2007 Annual Report to

Shareholders:



14 SEC Interpretation: Commission Guidance Regarding Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, 17 CFR Parts 211, 231 and 241,
[Release Nos. 33-8350; 34-48960; FR-72], http://www.sec.gov/rules/interp/33-8350.htm
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Management Discussion & Analysis of Financial Statements

The SEC intends for the section of management discussion and analysis (MD&A) of financial

statements to be one of the most important sections of the AR. In the words of the SEC,

MD&A should be a discussion and analysis of a company's business as seen through the eyes of those
who manage that business. Management has a unique perspective on its business that only it can
present..14

Warren Buffet, CEO of Berkshire Hathaway, says “I would like

to see an MD&A written as if I were sitting across from the CEO who

was telling me the key factors driving value in his company

and the kind of issues that keep him awake at night.”

Sounds easy, but writing a good MD&A apparently is one of the most difficult aspects of

generating an annual report to shareholders. It is easy to focus directly on the numbers presented in

the financial statements. The intent of the SEC is for a company to highlight key trends and to

explain the reason for these trends!

In the sample financial statements that follow in the next section, the company CEO might

explain them in the following manner:

The Sew Perfect Company had a very good year in year three. Profits are at a record high of $1,174,
up 56% from the preceding year. Assets are at a record high, up 33% from the preceding year to
$4,428 in year three. Cash is at a record high, up increasing to $1,608 from $944.

There are three primary sources of revenue for Sew Perfect: rent revenue from its maroon property
group, investment income from its three railroads and electric company, and miscellaneous revenue
from landing on Free Parking. During year three, the increase in profit was driven primarily by
investment income (opponents landed on our railroads seven times!) and Free Parking. In
management’s opinion, relying on investment income and miscellaneous revenue for future growth is
problematic. Unless a fourth railroad is acquired, railroad income has maxed out and may very well not
equal year three results in the future. Relying on miscellaneous revenue from Free Parking is extremely
risky, as the odds never favor landing there.

Growth in revenue for Sew Perfect depends on (1) the ability of the company to invest in the Maroon
property group to increase from seven houses combined to three hotels, and (2) visits from opponents
as they travel around the board. Should both occur, then rent revenue from the Maroon group can
increase many times, as rent prices for Maroon hotels range from $750 to $900 per visit.

The primary risk to future profits lies with our opponents building more structures on their own
monopolies. Rent expense was $118 in year two and $436 in year three, an increase of nearly 300%.
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It is troubling that in year three rent expense is double the amount of our rent revenue from Maroon
properties, and has grown at triple the rate. The greatest risk to Sew Perfect’s financial survival lies
here. If our opponents do any more building and Sew Perfect lands on their buildings, then future costs
may be very high, high enough to overwhelm our anticipated revenue growth.

As indicated earlier, the amount of cash is at a record high of $1,608. This is enough to grow our
investment in Maroon buildings to three hotels and to afford to pay rent expense for one trip around the
board. However, our cash reserves are not great enough for paying rent expense over the long run.
The combination of potential high future rent expense and only moderate cash reserves represents the
greatest risk to Sew Perfect.

It is Sew Perfect’s hope that our good luck will exceed our bad luck in the future, and that rental revenue
will exceed rent expense as a result. There is considerable risk that this may not occur. If so, profits
may decline in year four.

In Real Money Lite, all students will prepare a MD&A for annual reports for years three and four. It

should be approximately two or three pages in length.

For further guidance in writing your MD&A, refer to an article from the Journal of Accountancy,

found at http://www.aicpa.org/pubs/jofa/jan2006/meiers.htm
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Financial Statements

The crown jewels of the 10-K and the Annual Report to the Stockholders (AR) are the financial

statements. The SEC requires that financial statements be included in the 10-K. The 10-K's

audience is the investing public, which gains access to the 10-K through the SEC. Corporations in

turn send the financial statements to their stockholders in the AR because the stockholders want to

receive them.

Financial statements must be prepared according to

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). GAAP

are the rules that companies follow as they prepare financial

statements. United States GAAP are created under the

authority of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

The SEC has delegated the task of creating GAAP to the

private sector. The Financial Accounting Standards Board

(FASB) is the organization that currently establishes GAAP.

In Real Money Lite, the United States GAAP are followed, as

modified slightly in the accounting instructions.

The financial statements required in Real Money Lite are the

Income Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of Cash Flows,

and Statement of Changes in Owners Equity. Each of the financial statements is discussed in the

following paragraphs.

Balance Sheet

The balance sheet is the oldest of the set of required statements. In its most elemental form, the

balance sheet includes assets, liabilities and owners equity. In the United States, the most popular

organization of the Balance Sheet is asset equal liabilities plus owners equity. GAAP require that a

comparative balance sheet for the prior year be presented side-by-side with that of the current year.

It is customary for the current year be presented first, with that of the preceding year being presented

to the right.

Notice that in the sample balance sheet some lines show an amount of zero. This is by intent, to

show the location of as many items as possible. When preparing your own balance sheets, you

should only include line items that have an amount different than zero.
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Sew Perfect
Balance Sheet at end of Year Three

Three Two
Current Assets

Cash $1,608 $944
Receivables 81 0
Total Current Assets 1,689 944

Noncurrent Assets
Notes Receivable 0 0
Properties 1,350 2,100
Houses & Hotels (Net) 639 294
Total Noncurrent Assets 2,739 2,394

Total Assets $4,428 $3,338

Liabilities
Interest Payable 0 0
Taxes Payable 0 84
Mortgage Payable 0 0
Notes Payable 0 0
Total Liabilities 0 84

Owner's Equity
Contributed Capital 1,500 1,500
Retained Earnings 2,928 1,754
Total Owner's Equity 4,428 3,254

Total Liabilities and Owner's Equity $4,428 $3,338

Income Statement

The income statement is arguably the most important of the set of required statements. In its most

elemental form, the income statement includes revenues (the amount of value received from sale of a

good or service) and expenses (the cost of generating the revenues). In addition, GAAP require that

comparative income statements for the prior two years be presented side-by-side with the income

statement for the current year. It is customary for the current year be presented first, with those of

the preceding two years being presented to the right. GAAP permit two different formats for the

income statement, the single-step and the multiple-step, and a company chooses one format to use

for its financial statements.

In the exhibits that follow, a sample income statement is presented under the single-step format and

the multiple-step format. Under the single-step format, all revenues and gains are grouped together,

and all expenses and losses are grouped together. Under the multiple-step format, there are several

sub-totals. For your company choose either (but not both) the single-step or multiple-step format for

your income statement.

Notice that in the sample income statement some lines show an amount of zero. This is by intent, to

show the location of as many items as possible. When preparing your own income statement, you

should only include line items that have an amount different than zero. The first format shown is
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single step.

Sew Perfect
Income Statement

for the Year ended month 13, Year Three
Three Two One

Revenues & Gains
Rent Revenue $974 $460 $70
Salary Revenue 250 450 550
Miscellaneous Revenue 720 100 615
Interest Revenue 0 0 0
Gains 0 0 0
Total Revenue & Gains 1,944 1,010 1,235

Expenses & Losses
Rent Expense 436 118 57
Depreciation Expense 55 6 0
Miscellaneous Expense 110 50 50
Interest Expense 0 0 0
Losses 0 0 0
Income Tax Expense 169 84 126

Net Income $1,174 $752 $1,002

The following income statement is prepared in multiple step format:

Sew Perfect
Income Statement

for the Year ended month 13, Year Three
Three Two One

Rent Revenue $974 $460 $70
Rent Expense 436 118 57

Net Rental Income (Loss) 538 342 13
Salary Revenue 250 450 550
Miscellaneous Revenue 720 100 615

Total Revenues & Income 1,508 892 1,178
Depreciation Expense 55 6 0
Miscellaneous Expense 110 50 50

Income from Operations 1,343 826 1,128
Interest Revenue 0 0 0
Interest Expense 0 0 0
Gains 0 0 0
Losses 0 0 0

Pre-tax Income 1,343 836 1,128
Income Tax Expense (Refund) 169 84 126

Net Income $1,174 $752 $1,002



© 2004, 2008 by W. David Albrecht, All rights reserved. 55

Statement of Cash Flows

The statement of cash flows is the newest of the set of required statements having been created in

1987. In its most elemental form, the statement of cash flows includes cash flows from operating

activites, investing activities and financing activities. GAAP require that a comparative statement of

cash flows for the prior two years be presented side-by-side with that of the current year. It is

customary for the current year be presented first, with those of the preceding years being presented to

the right.

Cash inflows or receipts are shown as positive amounts, cash inflows or disbursements are shown as

negative amounts in parentheses. Notice that in the sample statement of cash flows some lines show

an amount of zero. This is by intent, to show the location of as many items as possible. When

preparing your own balance sheet, you should only include line items that have an amount different

than zero.

Sew Perfect
Statement of Cash Flows

for the Year ended month 13, Year Three
Three Two One

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Received from passing go 200 600 400
Received from rentals 974 460 70
Received from miscellaneous 720 100 565
Received from tax refunds 0 0 0
Received from interest 0 0 0
Paid for rentals (436) (118) (57)
Paid for miscellaneous 0 0 0
Paid for taxes 0 0 0
Paid for interest 0 0 (0
Total Cash Flows from Operating Activities + 1,064 + 866 + 978

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Paid for purchase of properties 0 (200) (1,150)
Paid for purchase of railroads & utilities 0 (200) (550)
Paid for purchase of buildings (400) (300) 0
Received from sale of properties 0 0 0
Received from sale of railroads & utilities 0 0 0
Received from sale of buildings 0 0 0
Total Cash Flows from Investing Activities (400) (700) (1,700)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Initial capital 0 0 1,500
Received from mortgages or loans 0 0 0
Repayment of mortgages or loans 0 0 0
Total Cash Flows from Financing Activities 0 0 1,500

Net Change in Cash for Year 664 166 778
Beginning Cash 0 0 0
Ending Cash $1,608 $944 $778
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Statement of Changes in Stockholders Equity

The statement of changes in stockholders equity contains the changes from beginning of year to end

of year for all amounts shown in the balance sheet section of stockholders equity. GAAP require that

a comparative statement of cash flows for the prior two years be presented side-by-side with that of

the current year. It is customary for the current year be presented first, with those of the preceding

years being presented to the right.

Additons are shown as positive amounts, subtractions are shown as negative amounts in parentheses.

Notice that in the sample statement of changes in stockholders equity some lines show an amount of

zero. This is by intent, to show the location of as many items as possible. When preparing your own

balance sheet, you should only include line items that have an amount different than zero.

Sew Perfect
Statement of Changes in Stockholders Equity

for the Year ended month 13, Year Three
Three Two One

Contributed Capital, start of turn 1 $1,500 $1,500 $0
Additional Contributed Capital 0 0 1,500
Contributed Capital, turn 13 $1,500 $1,500 $1,500

Retained Earnings, start of turn 1 $1,754 $1,002 $0
Net Income 1,174 752 1,002
Retained Earnings, turn 13 $2,928 $1,754 $1,002



© 2004, 2008 by W. David Albrecht, All rights reserved. 57

Notes to the Financial Statements

The Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of the financial statements. The

presentation of the Notes is governed by the generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). A

company can only disclose a topic in the Notes if it is permitted to do so by GAAP. Conversely, a

company cannot avoid its responsibility to disclose if GAAP requires that something be put into the

Notes. When public auditors audit the financial statements, they must examine and express an

opinion about the financial statements, which includes the Notes.

Notes provide quantitative and qualitative financial information. Some Notes provide additional

detail necessary for understanding the summarized aggregate numbers presented on the financial

statements. An example of providing detail is a note for Property, Plant and Equipment. Some

financial items are not presented in the body of the financial statements and are only disclosed in the

Notes. Such an example is the note for pensions.

In the Real Money Lite simulation game, four disclosures should be made in the Notes to the

financial statements if a company's circumstances warrant. These are for (1) significant accounting

policies, (2) land and buildings, (3) long-term debt and (4) contingencies and commitments. The

note for significant accounting polices must be the first note. There is no required or recommended

order for the other notes.

Significant Accounting Policies

The purpose of this note is to identify and describe the key accounting policies or rules used by a

company. A basic assumption is that a company uses American GAAP. Never-the-less, this must be

stated. Another item to disclose is that the preparation of the financial statements requires the use of

estimates and assumptions. Some companies include a statement about the fiscal year. Another

disclosure that is typically made in this note would be the type of depreciation method used

(straight-line). An example of this note follows.
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Note 1. Significant Accounting Policies

Accounting principles. The financial statements and accompanying notes to the
financial statements for Sew Perfect are prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles.

Estimates and assumptions. Preparing financial statements requires management to
make assumptions and estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses. An example of this includes the lengths of building life and
goodwill (excess recorded value)

Fiscal year. Sew Perfect operates on a thirteen month fiscal year.

Depreciation. Houses and hotels are depreciated using the straight-line method over a
period of fifty months.

Land and Buildings

This Real Money Lite note is similar to that for Property, Plant and Equipment found in the financial

statements for many US corporations. Since amounts are shown net of accumulated depreciation,

interested readers want to be informed about the amounts of historical cost and accumulated

depreciation of these assets. One other detail to keep in mind is that Land and Buildings are found

on the balance sheet, where the information is presented for the current year and one prior year for

comparative purposes. In the note for Property and Buildings, you likewise should disclose for the

current year and one prior year.

For example, if a company has two pieces of property (Boardwalk purchased for $400 and Park

Place purchased for $350), four houses and one hotel with a total of $168 of accumulated

depreciation, the note disclosure would have a table that looks like:

Note 2. Properties and Buildings.
Historical Cost Historical Cost

Year Three Year Two
Properties $750 $400
Houses & Hotels $1,800 $0
Total Cost $2,550 $400
Accumulated Depreciation $168 $0
Property & Buildings $2,382 $400
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Long-term Debt

You must disclose the amount borrowed and the interest rate for the current period and one prior
accounting period.

Note 3. Long-term debt
Year 4 Year 3

Mortgages (13%) $90 $540
Notes Payable (26%) 1,600 0
Total Long-Term Debt $1,690 $540

Contingencies and Commitments

If contingencies are at least reasonably possible, they must be disclosed in the notes to the financial

statements. A contingent liability that is probable and estimable should also be recorded in the

accounts and reported on the balance sheet and income statement.

In Real Money Lite, you should disclose a get-out-of-jail-free card as a contingent receivable in the

notes to the financial statements. This is because it is at least reasonably possible that you will be

incarcerated and that you will be willing to exercise the card and get out jail free.

If you have been granted a reduction in rent by an opponent, then you have a contingent receivable

and you should disclose in the notes the contractual details and some measure of the amount of value

of the contingent receivable as of the start and end of the period. If your company granted a

reduction in rent to an opponent, then you need to determine (1) if the likelihood is probable of

having to actually provide the rent reduction and (2) you can reliably estimate the value of the future

rent reduction. If the answer to both is yes, then you need to record the contingent liability in the

accounts and include the amounts in the body of the financial statements. If the answer to one or

both is no, then you should disclose in the notes the contractual details and the events that transpired

during the period related to the contingency.
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Certification of Financial Statements

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (section 302) adds a legislative focus

on the accuracy of published financial statements. Now, all financial

statements must be accompanied by a statement from the CEO that the

financial statements are correct (free from defect). This statement also

must be signed. A violation of this section must be knowing and

intentional to give rise to legal liability. An error unintentionally

included usually loses a CFO his/her position (and sometimes the CEO).

The statement of certification is required word for word, which means

that you can cut and paste, substituting your name and your company's

name. The following is an exact copy of the required certification.

I, Joseph Monopoly, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Sew Perfect Company (Sew Perfect);

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in
this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of Sew Perfect as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for Lazy Dog and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating
to Sew Perfect, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of Sew Perfect's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date
within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and

c) Presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation, to Sew Perfect's auditors and audit
committee of Sew Perfect's Board of Directors (or persons performing equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could
adversely affect Sew Perfect's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and
have identified for Sew Perfect's auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have
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a significant role in Sew Perfect's internal controls; and

6. I have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant changes in internal controls
or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most
recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and
material weaknesses.

Date: March 16, 2003

/s/ Joseph Monopoly

Joseph Monopoly
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Sew Perfect Company
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Instructions for Investing

Please read these instructions after the annual reports for each year have been published and before

making investment decisions. Students who don't read these instructions make mistakes and take

longer to complete assignments.

The financial statements for each game will be

e-mailed to you in a spreadsheet file, or placed on

either Blackboard/WebCT or the course web

page. Copies of each company's CEO's letter and

notes to the financial statements also will be sent

to you. The financial statements will have been

audited and corrected, and you can assume that

they are correct unless the auditor refuses to

certify them.

In this phase of the game, you are an investor, and ultimately a prize will be awarded to the best

investor. You will be making separate investment decisions for every game at your school's play of

the simulation game. In making your predictions, use the financial statements, notes to the financial

statements, the CEO's letter, and your personal knowledge of the local market if you are a participant

in that particular game. Look for clues to identify the company that should eventually win each

game (the sole criterion for winning is the company with the highest retained earnings at the end of

year four). Repeat this process for all markets (games) that are currently underway.

The investment now starts. You have 100 auction dollars

for each market (or game). Invest in the company (or

companies) you believe will ultimately dominate each

market.
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Student investors have used many strategies. Some choose to diversify their investments in each

game, perhaps placing investments of approximately $25 in each company (25-25-25-25 or

30-25-25-20). Some choose to invest more in the front-runners (30-30-30-10 or 40-40-10-10).

Sometimes investors have been more risk-seeking (50-50-0-0 or 75-25-0-0 or even 100-0-0-0). For

example, you may think that A will probably win a particular game, but that B has a moderate chance

and that C and D are long shots. If you are willing to take on risk for a chance of greater reward, your

investment pattern could be 50-30-10-10.

Your instructor will send you an e-mail with the investment form. You are to submit your

investments by replying to the e-mail. The investment form should look something like:

Game 1

Company A: xx Company B: xx Company C: xx Company D: xx

Game 2

Company A: xx Company B: xx Company C: xx Company D: xx

and so on for the number of games at your school. You are to make your investment by deleting the

xx and replacing it with the amount of your investment.

The investment and return for each market is independent of all the other

markets. At the conclusion of four years of play, a winning company for each

market will be determined based upon highest retained earnings. Then,

investment returns for year one investment will be computed for each investor

based upon amounts invested in each market's eventual winner. The investor

with the largest accumulated return (across all games and all investment years)

will be declared the winner.
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Assignments

The following assignments are designed for you to learn by doing. Later assignments require more
components than early assignments.

Your instructor will announce the due date for each assignment. Please submit your
assignments on time. Late assignments and assignments not turned in impede the progress of
Real Money Lite and inconvenience everyone in class.

* Assignment 1: Annual Report for year one
* Assignment 2: Investment for year one
* Assignment 3: Annual Report for year two
* Assignment 4: Investment for year two
* Assignment 5: Annual Report for year three
* Assignment 6: Investment for year three
* Assignment 7: Annual Report for year four
* Assignment 8, alternative A: Compute IRR of an

investment
* Assignment 8, alternative B: Create financial statement

analysis model
* Recommended grading weight for each assignment
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Assignment 1

You should read the instructions before completing and submitting this assignment.

There are several components to this assignment: Playing the game, writing a manager's diary for
your unique experience, performing the accounting, preparing an annual report to shareholders and
submitting it. The game is played sometimes in pairs of two. Except for the play of the game which
is done together, each member of the pair must separately complete the this assignment. There is to
be no collaboration between team members!

First, play MONOPOLY® for 13 turns (one year) only. Of course, you should read the

instructions for playing the game before you do. Do not play the game to conclusion. As you play
the game, take notes as to what is happening. These notes form the basis for your manager's diary.

Second, prepare a manager's diary. You will be graded on the accuracy and thoroughness of the

diary. If you are part of a pair playing the game together, it is extremely important that you have
compared notes with your playing partner and that both of you are in complete agreement as to
everything that happened!

Third, do the accounting for your company's experience in year one. You should go through the

following steps.

1. Analyze transactions and prepare journal entries in good form. Journal entries should be dated
(y/mm), and must correspond with events in the manager's diary. BE CAREFUL to record all
of your transactions.

2. Prepare a general ledger using the chart of accounts. Post all transactions to the proper
T-account. All entries in each ledger account should be dated:

Land
------------------------------
1/1 100 |
1/5 320 |
1/9 240 |
1/13 60 |

|
-----------|-----------

|
end 720 |

3. Prepare a trial balance after journal entries for all transactions have been posted to the
accounts. This is the unadjusted trial balance.

4. Prepare year-end adjusting entries as needed. Please disclose all computations when handing
in the material. Post all adjusting entries to the proper T-account.

5. Prepare a trial balance, the adjusted trial balance
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6. Prepare closing entries and post to the T-accounts.

7. Prepare a trial balance, the post-closing trial balance.

8. Prepare financial statements with notes.

Fourth, prepare an annual report to stockholders for year one. Your annual report should include

a CEO letter and financial statements with notes to the financial statements. Financial highlights,
MD&A and certification don't have to be included in this assignment.

Your set of financial statements should include an income statement, balance sheet, statement of
cash flows, statement of changes in owners equity, as well as notes to the financial statements. Each
statement should have a heading and be neat and in good form. Each statement should be on a
separate page. Notes to the financial statements are to be ordered and numbered.

In order, hand in the following on paper:
1. Cover page includes names of competing students. This is to be printed from a word

processing file.
2. Annual report, containing CEO letter, financial statements, and notes to the financial

statements. These are to be printed from a word processing or spreadsheet file.
3. Supporting material:

1. Manager's diary (printed from a word processing file).
2. Accounting journal with regular, adjusting, and closing entries (hand-written or

printed from word processing or spreadsheet file).
3. General ledger (hand-written or printed from word processing or spreadsheet file).
4. Trial balances - one each after transactions, adjustments and closing (hand-written

or printed from word processing or spreadsheet file).
5. Original or photocopy of cash memo (very important).
6. Computations for all adjusting entries (hand-written or printed from word

processing or spreadsheet file).
7. List of assets owned at end of year (hand-written or printed from word processing

or spreadsheet file).

E-mail the following to your instructor:
1. CEO letter.
2. Notes to the financial statements.

Late assignments and assignments not turned in impede the progress of Real Money Lite and
inconvenience everyone in class. Consequently, they may be penalized.
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Assignment 2

You should read the instructions for investing before completing and submitting this assignment.

This assignment is to be completed individually by each person participating in Real Money Lite.
You are free to discuss with other investors the relative strengths and weaknesses of companies in
each game. The investment decision, however, is to be your own.

The financial statements for each game will be e-mailed to you in a spreadsheet file or placed on the
course web page. Copies of each company's CEO's letter and notes to the financial statements will
be e-mailed to you in a word processing file or placed on the course web page. The financial
statements will have been audited and corrected. Unless otherwise stated, you can assume that the
auditor's opinion is that each company's financial statements present fairly the financial condition of
that company.

Your instructor will send you an e-mail with an investment form. You are to submit your
investments by replying to his/her e-mail. The investment form should look something like:

Game 1
Company A: xx Company B: xx Company C: xx Company D: xx

Game 2
Company A: xx Company B: xx Company C: xx Company D: xx

and so on for the number of games at your school. You are to make your investment by deleting the
xx and replacing it with the amount of your investment.

Year one investments will no longer be accepted once the play of year two has
started. You are not to play year two until everyone in your game has submitted
investments.
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Assignment 3

You should read the instructions before completing and submitting this assignment.

There are several components to this assignment: Playing the game, writing a manager's diary for
your unique experience, performing the accounting, preparing an annual report to shareholders and
submitting it. The game is played sometimes in pairs of two. Except for the play of the game which
is done together, each member of the pair must separately complete the this assignment. There is to
be no collaboration between team members!

First, play MONOPOLY® for 13 additional turns (year two) only. Remember to make income

tax payments to the bank (or collect income tax refunds from the bank) on turn four of the year.

Second, prepare a manager's diary.

Third, do the accounting for your company's experience in year two.

Fourth, prepare an annual report to stockholders for year two. Your annual report should include

a CEO letter, financial highlights, financial statements with notes to the financial statements, and a
certification of the financial statements. A MD&A doesn't have to be included in this assignment.

In order, hand in the following on paper:
1. Cover page includes names of competing students. This is to be printed from a word

processing file.
2. Annual report, containing CEO letter, financial highlights, financial statements and notes

to the financial statements, and a CEO certification of the financial statements. These
are to be printed from a word processing or spreadsheet file.

3. Supporting material (same as for year one)

E-mail the following to your instructor:
1. CEO letter.
2. Notes to the financial statements.

Late assignments and assignments not turned in impede the progress of Real Money Lite and
inconvenience everyone in class. Consequently, they may be penalized.

Assignment 4

Same requirements as assignment 2.
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Assignment 5

You should read the instructions before completing and submitting this assignment.

There are several components to this assignment: Playing the game, writing a manager's diary for
your unique experience, performing the accounting, preparing an annual report to shareholders and
submitting it. The game is played sometimes in pairs of two. Except for the play of the game which
is done together, each member of the pair must separately complete the this assignment. There is to
be no collaboration between team members!

First, play MONOPOLY® for 13 additional turns (year three) only. Remember to make income

tax payments to the bank (or collect income tax refunds from the bank) on turn four of the year.

Second, prepare a manager's diary.

Third, do the accounting for your company's experience in year three.

Fourth, prepare an annual report to stockholders for year three. Your annual report should

include a CEO letter, financial highlights, MD&A, financial statements with notes to the financial
statements, and a certification of the financial statements.

In order, hand in the following on paper:
1. Cover page includes names of competing students. This is to be printed from a word

processing file.
2. Annual report, containing CEO letter, financial highlights, MD&A, financial statements

and notes to the financial statements, and a CEO certification of the financial statements.
These are to be printed from a word processing or spreadsheet file.

3. Supporting material (same as for preceding years)

E-mail the following to your instructor:
1. CEO letter.
2. MD&A.

Late assignments and assignments not turned in impede the progress of Real Money Lite and
inconvenience everyone in class. Consequently, they may be penalized.

Assignment 6

Same requirements as assignments 2 & 4.
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Assignment 7

You should read the instructions before completing and submitting this assignment.

You are to play 13 additional turns of Monopoly (year four) and submit an annual report (same
requirements as assignment 5.

There are several components to this assignment: Playing the game, writing a manager's diary for
your unique experience, performing the accounting, preparing an annual report to shareholders and
submitting it. The game is played sometimes in pairs of two. Except for the play of the game which
is done together, each member of the pair must separately complete the this assignment. There is to
be no collaboration between team members!



15Under Quattro and Lotus, it takes the form:
@IRR(guessrate,startrange..endrange)
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Assignment 8A

Objective: To become familiar with spreadsheet financial functions.

Many electronic spreadsheet programs contain financial functions. On useful function is IRR, which
computes the Internal Rate of Return. Under Excel15, it takes the form:

=IRR(startrange..endrange,guessrate)

Assignment
In this assignment, refer to your manager's diaries for Real Money Lite and select one color
group (or set of railroads or set of utilities) in which you invested. Identify all of the months in
which there was a related cash flow. For example, if you spent money to acquire a property or
to build a house, you have a cash outflow in that month. If you received money for rent, then
you have a cash inflow for that month.

Then, use the IRR function to compute the rate of return for your color group investment.

What follows is an example of an investment in the orange property group.

IRR= 4.766%

1 0
2 0
3 0
4 -180 Buy St. James
5 0
6 14 Rent Revenue
7 0
8 0
9 0

10 0
11 0
12 0
13 0
14 14 Rent Revenue
15 0
16 0
17 -180 Buy Tennessee Ave
18 0
19 14 Rent Revenue
20 0
21 14 Rent Revenue
22 0
23 -300 Buy N.C. Ave.
24 0
25 0
26 26 Rent Revenue on N.C. Ave
27 0
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28 0
29 0 Trade Away N.C. Ave. for NY Ave.
30 0
31 0
32 0
33 -1500 Erect Hotels
34 0
35 0
36 950 Rent Revenue
37 0
38 0
39 0
40 1000 Rent Revenue
41 0
42 0
43 0
44 0
45 0
46 950 Rent Revenue
47 0
48 0
49 0
50 0
51 0
52 2060 List value of property & bldgs

Other Instructions:

This assignment can be prepared with the spreadsheet your instructor assigns.

Spreadsheets that are designed to be general purpose receive more credit than those that are
very specific. Formulas or equations are more general purpose than merely typing in numbers.

Use proper formatting (currency amounts in either currency or comma formats, interest rates in
percent).

Hand in the following:

1. Cover sheet
2. A copy of your manager's diary from all four years, with the relevant cash flow

highlighted or circled.
3. Print a copy of your spreadsheet file that shows the IRR and the cash flows.
4. Reprint your spreadsheet file showing the actual function for IRR.
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Assignment 8 B

Writing Assignment to Conclude Real Money Lite

Financial Statement Analysis. Examine the game summaries for year four. Identify the winner for
each game (highest retained earnings). After referring to the game summaries for all four years, try
to identify the key variables that would have helped you (in general) to predict the winner of a game
of Monopoly® at each year along the way. You will be graded on the quality of your model as well
as the quality of your exposition.

Your paper should be organized in the following manner:

A. Introduction
B. Model for year one

1. Create a model: ultimate winner = f(accounting variables) You may choose as many
accounting variables as you want. They may be in terms of the amounts reported
in the financial statements or in terms of ratios.

2. Justify why each proposed variable should work toward predicting a winner. When
two or more variables are proposed, discuss how the model works to consider the
interaction between the variables.

3. Analyze how successful your model is in year one. That is, it worked in three of six
games, or whatever. List these games, and provide a minimum explanation.
Discuss swhy your model failed for each of the games in which your model was
not successful

C. Model for year two
Same as for year one, section B, 1-3.

D. Model for year three
Same as for year one, section B, 1-3.

E. Conclusion

Late assignments and assignments not turned in impede the progress of Real Money Lite and
inconvenience everyone in class.
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Recommended Grading Weight
for Each Assignment

Some instructors choose to require eight assignments during the play of Real Money Lite. The
recommended weights for the assignments are as follows

Assignment Description Weight
1 Year one annual report 16%
2 Year one investment 8%
3 Year two annual report 15%
4 Year two investment 8%
5 Year three annual report 15%
6 Year three investment 8%
7 Year four annual report 15%
8 One of the alternatives 15%

Total 100%

Some instructors choose to require only seven assignments during the play of Real Money Lite. The
recommended weights for the assignments are as follows

Assignment Description Weight
1 Year one annual report 19%
2 Year one investment 8%
3 Year two annual report 19%
4 Year two investment 8%
5 Year three annual report 19%
6 Year three investment 8%
7 Year four annual report 19%

Total 100%

At the instructor's discretion, late assignments may be penalized.

Late assignments and assignments not turned in impede the progress of Real Money Lite and
inconvenience everyone in class.
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Go To ... Other Monopoly Sites

The manufacturer's site

* Hasbro's Monopoly®
http://www.hasbro.com/games/kid-games/monopoly/

Sites on the probabilities associated with Monopoly®

* Probability and statistics in Monopoly®
http://www.tkcs-collins.com/truman/monopoly/monopoly.shtml

* Durango Bill's Monopoly Probabilities
http://www.durangobill.com/Monopoly.html

* Marvin Gardens' Monopoly® Odds
http://www.geocities.com/stuartthiel/marvingardens.html

Fan sites

* Monopoly web ring
http://www.melright.com/monoring/

* Monopoly in the Park
http://www.monopolyinthepark.com/

Monopoly web index

* Inside the Monopoly Game
http://www.math.chalmers.se/~ilya/daugava/noie.htm

* MonopolyLinks.com
http://www.monopolylinks.com/
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Alternative rules

* Monopoly Expansion Set
http://www.paxentertainment.com/gspice.htm

* Jacob Davenport's list of Monopoly Home rules
http://www.wunderland.com/WTS/Jake/Monopoly.html

History of the game

* Who invented Monopoly?
http://adena.com/adena/mo/

* Antimonopoly
http://www.antimonopoly.com/

* BBC on Monopoly
http://www.bbc.co.uk/cult/ilove/toys/monopoly.shtml

* Monopoly History
http://www.monopoly-history.com
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Information for Potential Adopters

Robert Kneckel started to roll the Monopoly® bandwagon when he published an article about having

students play a game of Monopoly, and then each preparing a Balance Sheet and Income Statement.

He also commercially published a workbook with his instructions for play of the game. A few years

later, I published a research study about using Monopoly as an accounting and investment simulation

game ["A Financial Accounting and Investment Simulation Game," by W. David Albrecht. (1995).

Issues in Accounting Education, 10, 127-141.]

My versions of the simulation game, Real Money–2003 and Real Money Lite, differs from Kneckel's

in three significant respects. First, students prepare an Annual Report to Shareholders, thereby

gaining an appreciation for a proper context in which the financial statements are published. Second,

student prepare financial statements every 13 turns (about ¼ of a game). This makes possible

increased student learning, as instructor feedback throughout the game permits students to prepare

more accurate financial statements as the game progresses. Third, students analyze the financial

statements of all games and invest in those players most likely to win their respective game. My

research study shows that students make rational investment decisions. Exit surveys reveal a high

degree of student satisfaction with the simulation game.

Although I retain the intellectual property rights to the Real Money simulation game and instructions

for the different versions, I routinely grant permission to accounting teachers so that they can use it in

their financial accounting classes. To request permission, send an e-mail to

albrecht@profalbrecht.com. Include your name, school, phone number, name and number of course,

number of students, and other information you deem relevant. I shall then respond to your request.

Real Money Lite emphasizes analyzing transactions using the balance sheet equation (as well as the

income statement and statement of cash flows equations), and is most appropriate for an introductory
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accounting course. Real Money 2003 is most appropriate for Intermediate Accounting and uses

debits and credits to account for transactions.
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Dr. Albrecht attempts to include simulations and games into almost every course he teaches. He has

used Real Money in financial classes since 1992. He has had students assemble puzzles to study the

rate of learning. Sometimes a class gets to play his accounting versions of Jeopardy and Who Wants

to Be a Millionaire.

He has been playing Monopoly since he was a young boy. Now he just wants to be the banker.
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Contact Information
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Professor David Albrecht
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Bowling Green, OH 43402
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